Wiltshire Council

~———"-_ Where everybody matters

AGENDA

Meeting:  Western Area Planning Committee

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN
Date: Wednesday 15 November 2017
Time: 3.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Jessica Croman, of Democratic Services,
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718262 or email
[essica.croman@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:

Clir Christopher Newbury (Chairman)  CliIr Peter Fuller
Clir Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman)  ClIr Sarah Gibson

Clir Phil Alford Clir Edward Kirk
ClIr Trevor Carbin CliIr Stewart Palmen
Clir Ernie Clark CliIr Pip Ridout

Clir Andrew Davis

Substitutes:

Clir David Halik CllIr Jim Lynch
Clir Deborah Halik CliIr Steve Oldrieve
Clir Russell Hawker Clir Roy While

Cllr George Jeans
Clir David Jenkins
Cllr Gordon King

ClIr Jerry Wickham
Clir Graham Wright

Page 1


http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/

Recording and Broadcasting Information

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the
Council’'s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv. At the start of the meeting, the
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council.

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes.

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in
relation to any such claims or liabilities.

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is
available on request.

Parking

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most
meetings will be held are as follows:

County Hall, Trowbridge
Bourne Hill, Salisbury
Monkton Park, Chippenham

County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer,
who will arrange for your stay to be extended.

Public Participation

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of
guestions and statements for this meeting.

For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution.

The full constitution can be found at this link.

For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for
details

Page 2


http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1629&ID=1629&RPID=12066789&sch=doc&cat=13959&path=13959
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1392&MId=10753&Ver=4

AGENDA

Part |

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public

Apologies

To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 20)

To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 18
October 2017.

Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by
the Standards Committee.

Chairman's Announcements

To receive any announcements through the Chair.

Public Participation

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.

Statements

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone,
email or in person no later than 2.50pm on the day of the meeting.

The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.

Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by
planning officers.

Page 3



uestions

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,
guestions on non-determined planning applications.

Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than
5pm on Wednesday 8 November 2017 in order to be guaranteed of a written
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no
later than 5pm on Friday 10 November 2017 Please contact the officer named
on the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website.

Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 21 - 22)

To receive details of completed and pending appeals and other updates as
appropriate.

Bratton Path No. 42 and Parish of Edington Path No 36 (Pages 23 - 114)

Planning Applications

To consider and determine the following planning applications.

8a 17/106276/FUL-Trowle House, Wingfield (Pages 115 - 126)

Urgent Items
Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency.

Part Il

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

Page 4



Wiltsrire Council

~——-~_ Where everybody matters

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD
ON 18 OCTOBER 2017 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL,
TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN.

Present:

Cllr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair), ClIr Phil Alford, Cllr Trevor Carbin,
ClIr Peter Fuller, ClIr Sarah Gibson, Clir Edward Kirk, Cllr Stewart Palmen,

CliIr Pip Ridout, Cllr Roy While (Substitute) and Clir Jerry Wickham (Substitute)

Also Present:

Cllr Andrew Dawvis, Clir David Halik and Clir Tony Jackson

79 Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ernie Clark, Andrew
Davis and Christopher Newbury.

Councillor Davis was substituted by Councillor Roy While.
Councillor Newbury was substituted by Councillor Jerry Wickham.

80 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2017 were presented.
Resolved:

To approve as a true and correct record and sign the minutes of the
meeting held on 20 September 2017.

81 Declarations of Interest

Councillor Andrew Davis, attending as the local member and not a member of
the committee, declared that he was a part of the Feoffees (Trustees) of St
Lawrence Chapel who were objectors in relation to applications 17/03839/FUL
and 17/04445/LBC.

Councillor Pip Ridout declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to

applications 17/03839/FUL and 17/04445/LBC by virtue of being a member of
St Lawrence Chapel.

Page 5



82

83

84

85

Councillor Peter Fuller declared a non-pecuniary interest in application
17/06492/FUL. As he considered the applicant a close friend, he would leave
the meeting when the item was considered.

Chairman's Announcements

The Chairman gave details of the exits to be used in the event of an
emergency.

Public Participation

No questions had been received from councillors or members of the public.

The Chairman welcomed all present. He then explained the rules of public
participation and the procedure to be followed at the meeting.

Planning Appeals and Updates

The Planning Appeals Update Report was received. Attention was drawn to a
correction to the last appeals update relating to a costs application that was
lodged by Wiltshire Council in relation to refused application 17/00644/FUL,
which was dismissed by the planning inspector. A short statement was also
received from Mr Francis Morland.

Resolved:

To note the Planning Appeals Update Report for 8 September 2017 to 6
October 2017.

Codford Path No. 15 Right of Way Modification Order 2016

Public Participation

Jonathon Cheal spoke in objection to the order.

Josh Stratton, landowner, spoke in objection to the order.

Bob Richardson-Aitken spoke in support of the order.

Helen Belchamber spoke in support of the order.

David Shaw spoke in support of the order.

Cllr Tom Thornton on behalf of Codford Parish Council spoke regarding the
application.

The Chairman introduced the item, noting that the Committee had previously
considered the modification order on 2 November 2016. As objections had been
received the order was required to be sent to the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination, and the Committee had
resolved that the Council should take a neutral stance as to whether the order
should be confirmed, considering the balance of evidence not sufficient to
support a recommendation of confirmation as made, confirmation subject to
modification or withdrawal.

Page 6



Following that meeting officers became aware that advice provided to the
Committee in relation to evidence under Section 31(6) of the Highways Act
1980, in relation to landowner’s deposits made under that section and the effect
upon the relevant 20 year period of purported use of the order route, was
incorrect. Having been given legal advice by a solicitor and legal counsel that
interpretation of the law had changed which had impacted on the information
originally given to Committee. The matter had therefore been referred back to
the Committee to consider the effect of the new information on the evidence
relating to the order, and therefore their previous decision. The Committee was
informed that if Members decided to stick to their original decision the new
information would in any event be presented to the Inspector,

The Committee were advised that whatever stance they may have taken when
the matter was previously considered, they would need to consider with an
open mind the additional information and whether its effect upon the evidence
was such that they wished to reach a new decision, or uphold their previous
decision.

Sally Madgwick, Team Leader Definitive Map and Highway Records, presented
the report, which recommended that order be forwarded to the Secretary
ofState with the recommendation the order be confirmed as made. The history
of the order and details of the route were provided, along with the extent of
evidence. The Committee’s attention was drawn to an error in paragraph 16 of
the report which incorrectly stated that ‘Mr Josh Stratton never made a
declaration to accompany either of his deposits’ whereas Mr Josh Stratton did
make a statutory declaration to accompany the 2011 deposit.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions
of the officers.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as
detailed above.

A debate followed, where the nature of the legal advice was discussed, along
with its impact on the relevant period to be considered and the weight of
evidence submitted by all parties, with some members arguing that the impact
of the new advice on the evidence meant, on the balance of probabilities, that
the route had been so used and that the order should be supported, with others
considering that the impact was not sufficient to alter the reasoning behind
taking a neutral stance.

A motion to forward the order to the Secretary of State with the Council taking a
neutral stance was moved by Councillor Ridout and seconded by Councillor
Kirk, and at the conclusion of debate, it was,

Resolved:

That the Committee confirms its resolution of 2 November 2016 and that

the Council take a neutral stance with regard to the confirmation of the
Order.

Page 7



86

87

Planning Applications

The Committee considered the following applications:

17/03839/FUL and 17/04445/LBC - 3 High Street, Warminster BA12 9AG

Public Participation

lan Frostick on behalf of the Feoffees of St Lawrence Chapel spoke in objection
to the application.

Duncan Lawrence, agent, spoke in support of the application.

Clir Sue Fraser on behalf of Warminster Town Council spoke in objection to the
application.

The senior planning officer, Matthew Perks, introduced a report which
recommended planning permission be granted for the refurbishment of the
existing frontage building at No. 3 High Street to provide 2 shops with 3 flats
above plus new residential development of 5 dwellings and landscaping to the
rear. Officers also recommended that listed building consent also be granted for
alterations and extensions to the listed building.

A site visit had been undertaken by Committee members ahead of the meeting
in accordance with the deferment resolution made at the previous meeting
dated 20 September 2017.

Officers referenced additional reported details contained within the published
reports as well highlighting corrections and identifying amendments made to the
recommended planning conditions.

Key issues highlighted included the impacts on the heritage assets of the host
property itself as well as the neighbouring chapel and the wider conservation
area. The public benefits of refurbishing a property and bringing it back into a
viable use were also highlighted as well as the access arrangements and
limitations and the fact that the proposed development would not have any
dedicated car parking provision.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions
of the officer, seeking clarification regarding the use and ownership of
neighbouring properties, bin storage provision and the access arrangements.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the committee, as
detailed above.

The local member, Councillor Andrew Davis, then spoke in objection to the
application.

A debate followed whereby the effects and impacts on the host building,
conservation area and the chapel were discussed, and whether the proposals
would deliver benefits to the listed building and wider conservation area through
the proposed renovation work to what is a significant and prominent listed
building which had rapidly deteriorated over many years. There was also

Page 8



recognition by members that the proposals offered opportunity to save the
building and return it into a viable use. There was also a discussion about
whether the less than substantial harm to the listed building was offset by the
reported public benefits.

A motion to approve the planning and listed building applications was moved by
Councillor Trevor Carbin, and seconded by Councillor Jerry Wickham. Following
a vote, resolved as below, a motion to grant Listed Building Consent was
moved by Councillor Sarah Gibson, seconded by Councillor Jerry Wickham. At
the conclusion of debate, it was,

Resolved:

That authority be delegated to the Head of Development Management to
GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions listed below and
following the completion of a S106 legal agreement which would bind the
developer and this permission to firstly secure and complete all the
necessary repair works to bring the Grade Il Listed building at No. 3 High
Street back into a functional use prior to the first occupation of any of the
approved dwellings.

Conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans:

1364/P/LOC received on 25 July 2017; 1364/P/01 P3 received on 25 July
2017; 1364/P/02 P2 received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/03 P2 received on 18
April 2017; 1364/P/04 P2 received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/05 P2 received
on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/06 P3 received on 25 July 2017; 1364/P/07 P2
received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/08 P2 received on 18 April 2017,
1364/P/09 P3 received on 25 July 2017

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3. No development shall commence on site until the following details
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:

In respect of the 3 residential units located to the rear of the site and
behind the Chapel:-

Page 9



Eaves and chimney details to include a section at a scale of 1:10, full
detail of doors, lintels, cills and windows and brochure details for
rainwater goods and roof lights (conservation style):

A sample panel of the proposed brickwork and mortar colour (brickwork
should be Flemish bond) and the proposed specification for the repair of
the wall; and,

In respect of alterations and conversion of 3 High Street:-

Detailed drawings of the ground floor shop front at a scale of no less than
1:50;

A repair schedule for all the existing windows with sash windows to be
repaired or be replaced on a like-for-like basis;

Details of conservation style roof lights, timber French doors and other
new external doors and any canopies, natural slate roofing materials and
new stone copings;

Details of the design of the new stairs at ground to the first floor level; and
A room by room survey of all surviving historic features (i.e. doors,
skirtings, cornices etc.) and that such features identified are suitably
reinstated; and,

In respect of the 2 residential units to be provided by the extension to the
rear of No 3 High Street:-

A sample panel of the proposed Flemish bond brickwork and mortar
colour;

New window details at a scale of 1.5 including horizontal and vertical
sections, and detailing windows with rubbed brick arches and Bath stone
cills.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area.

4, No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and
soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include:

- all hard and soft surfacing materials including proposed planting;

- wildlife friendly proposals for the planting scheme

- finished levels

- the type and form of any protective fencing to safeguard boundary walls
and retained trees

- any means of site/plot enclosure.

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning
Authority before development commences in order that the development
is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory
landscaped setting for the development and the protection of existing
important landscape features.

Page 10



5. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the
first occupation of the building or the completion of the development
whichever is the sooner. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in
accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part
of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development and the protection of existing important landscape features.

6. No development shall commence on site (including any works of
demolition), until a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
which shall include the following:

a) the access and parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

b) the loading and unloading of plant and materials;

c) the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;

d) the measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during
construction; the hours of construction, including deliveries;

e) No construction or demolition work taking place on Sundays or Public
Holidays or outside the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and
08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays.

The approved CMP shall be complied with in full throughout the
construction period.

REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities,
the amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment
through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the
construction phase.

7. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the
discharge of foul water from the site has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development hereby
approved shall not be first occupied unless and until the foul water
drainage scheme has been implemented in accordance with the approved
details.

REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

8. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the
discharge of surface water from the site (including surface water from the
access / driveway), incorporating sustainable drainage details together
with permeability test results to BRE365, has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until the surface
water drainage scheme has been implemented in accordance with the
approved details.

Page 11



REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

9. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for protecting
the future residents against noise from road traffic and noise from other
sources such as plant for air conditioning units etc. has been submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme
shall be implemented in full before the use commences and shall be
maintained at all times thereafter.

Note: In discharging this condition the applicant should engage an
Acoustic Consultant. The consultant should carry out a background noise
survey and noise assessment according to BS8233: 2014 (or subsequent
version) and demonstrate that internal and external noise levels will not
exceed the guideline noise levels contained in Section 7.7 of
BS8233:2014. The report should also demonstrate that internal maximum
noise levels in bedrooms will not normally exceed 45dB LAmax between
the hours of 23:00 and 07:00.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of future occupants.

10. No burning of waste or other materials shall take place on the
development site during the demolition/construction phase of the
development.

REASON: In the interests of neighbour amenity.

11. The Al use hereby permitted shall only take place between the hours
of 08:00 and 1800 Mondays to Saturdays and between 10:00 and 16:00 on
Sundays and Bank or Public Holidays.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of future occupants and of
neighbouring properties.

12. No deliveries shall be made to or collections made from the retail
development hereby approved except between the hours of 08:00 and
18:00 Monday to Saturday, with no deliveries or collections on Sundays or
Public and Bank Holidays.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of future occupants and of
neighbouring properties.

13. No loud speakers or amplification equipment shall be attached to
ceilings or external walls in the Al use premises.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of future occupants and of
neighbouring properties.

14. The dwellings hereby approved shall achieve a level of energy

performance at or equivalent to Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable
Homes. The dwellings shall not be occupied until evidence has been

Page 12



issued and submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority certifying that this level or equivalent has been achieved.

REASON: To ensure that the objectives of sustainable development equal
or equivalent to those set out in Policy CP41 of the Wiltshire Core
Strategy are achieved.

15. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved wildlife
friendly measures in the form of house sparrow nest box under the
eaves/soffits of new buildings on site and bat enhancements with crevice
spaces to new buildings shall have been installed in accordance with
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

REASON: In the interests of enhanced biodiversity.

16. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order
revoking or re- enacting or amending that Order with or without
modification), there shall be no additions to, or extensions or
enlargements of any building forming part of the development hereby
permitted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the
Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning
permission should be granted for additions, extensions or enlargements.

INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT:

The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging
Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability
Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL payment due. If
an Additional Information Form has not already been submitted, please
submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, you
may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the
relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL
Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to
Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development. Should
development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by
the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and
full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you
require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to
the Council's Website
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communit
yinfrastructurelevy.

The applicant is advised that it is an offence to disturb nesting birds. Site
clearance of vegetation should be undertaken outside the bird nesting

Page 13



season (March to the end of August) or immediately after an ecologist has
confirmed the absence of active nests.

This decision should be read in conjunction with the listed building
consent decision issued for application 17/04445/LBC and the conditions
attached thereto.

The applicant is advised to contact Wessex Water with regard to new
connections and in respect of any agreement that may be required with
regard to the protection of existing infrastructure.

17/04445/LBC

Following the resolution to endorse the approval of application
17/03839/FUL, it was furthermore resolved to grant listed building
consent, subject to the following conditions.

1. The works for which Listed Building Consent is hereby granted
shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this
consent.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans:

1364/P/LOC received on 25 July 2017; 1364/P/01 P3 received on 25 July
2017; 1364/P/02 P2 received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/03 P2 received on 18
April 2017; 1364/P/04 P2 received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/05 P2 received
on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/06 P3 received on 25 July 2017; 1364/P/07 P2
received on 18 April 2017; 1364/P/08 P2 received on 18 April 2017;
1364/P/09 P3 received on 25 July 2017

[insofar as they relate to the Listed Building No.3 High Street Warminster].

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3. No development shall commence on site until the following details
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority:

In respect of alterations and conversion of 3 High Street:-

Detailed drawings of the ground floor shop front at a scale of no less than
1:50;

A repair schedule for all the existing windows with sash windows to be
repaired or be replaced on a like-for-like basis;

Page 14



88

Details of conservation style roof lights, timber French doors and other
new external doors and any canopies, natural slate roofing materials and
new stone copings;

Details of the design of the new stairs at ground to the first floor level; and
A room by room survey of all surviving historic features (i.e. doors,
skirtings, cornices etc.) and that such features identified are suitably
reinstated; and,

In respect of the 2 residential units to be provided by the extension to the
rear of No 3 High Street:-

A sample panel of the proposed Flemish bond brickwork and mortar
colour;

New window details at a scale of 1:5 including horizontal and vertical
sections, and detailing windows with rubbed brick arches and Bath stone
cills.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area.

Planning informative:

1. This decision should be read in conjunction with the planning
application decision issued for application 17/03839/FUL and the
conditions attached thereto.

17/06331/FUL - Rothermere, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge BA14 8JQ

Public Participation
Eileen Smith spoke in objection to the application on behalf of the residents of
Regal Court.

The senior planning officer, Matthew Perks, presented a report which
recommended approval be granted for change of use from office (B1) to Drug
and Alcohol Misuse Advice and Treatment Centre (D1), and conversion of first
floor to cluster housing unit of 5 bedrooms and communal facilities. The
application was to be determined by Committee as it was a Wiltshire Council
application which had received objections. Key issues were stated to include
the principle of development and impact upon neighbouring amenity.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions
of the officer. It was confirmed that it was not proposed that the facility would be
manned 24 hours per day, but officers did recommend that a facility
management plan should be prepared in advance of any works commencing on
the site and that the housing unit as part of the treatment centre was for use by
those who had already received treatment and had detoxed.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as
detailed above.

Page 15



The local member, Councillor Stewart Palmen, then spoke in support of the
application.

A debate followed, where members discussed the concerns that had been
raised by local residents, but noted that similar facilities had not led to any
increase in crime, disorder or anti-social behaviour, and noted that the site had
previously been used as a Probation office. It was stressed that the Council had
a duty to support vulnerable persons and the site was considered a suitable and
sustainable location for such a facility which would be close to other social
services. Following a discussion about how best to liaise with the local residents
at Regal Court is was agreed that a planning informative would be applied to
the decision requiring the Council’s public protection anti-social behaviour
officer to make contact with and offer to meet with the residents of Regal Court
to help allay any concerns.

A motion to approve the application with the addition of an informative as
detailed below was moved by Councillor Palmen and seconded by Councillor
Philip Alford and at the conclusion of the debate, it was,

Resolved:
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans: Site Plan registered on 04
August 2017; Floor Plan as Exiting registered on 04 August 2017; and
Floor Plan as Proposed registered on 04 August 2017

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use
until a Facility Management Plan (FMP) has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The FMP shall include,
but not necessarily be limited to, the following:

a) The hours of operation for the D1 use;

b) The staffing levels;

c) The responsible persons and lines of communication; and

d) Further details in respect of the out of hours contact details and
procedures.

Page 16



89

The approved FMP shall be adhered to and implemented in accordance
with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of neighbouring amenity.

INFORMATIVE

The Council’s own public protection anti-social behaviour officer is
encouraged by the elected members of the area planning committee to
make contact with and arrange a meeting with the residents of Regal
Court to allay any lingering concerns and/or fears about the consented
development proposals.

17/06492/FUL - 19/19A The Old Bakehouse, Stallard Street Trowbridge
BA14 9AJ

Public Participation
John Knight, applicant, spoke in support of the application.

The senior planning officer, Matthew Perks, presented a report which
recommended that permission be granted for existing shop and residential
accommodation to be converted to 7 self-contained flats. Key issues were
stated to include the principle of the proposed conversion, parking issues and
impact on neighbouring amenity.

Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions
of the officer. Details were sought on the layout of the site, bin storage
provision, whether the site was inside or outside the town centre, the ownership
of the entrance yard and parking provision. In response to queries it was
confirmed that the site was outside the town centre, but close to amenities, the
railway station and good public transport opportunities. It was confirmed that
the site was considered a highly sustainable location for this proposed
development and the slight shortfall in terms of on-site car parking was not
considered robust enough reason to refuse the application.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as
detailed above.

The local member, Councillor Stewart Palmen, then spoke in objection to the
application.

A debate followed, where members discussed the parking arrangements and
ease of access to the site, the number of units applied for and whether this
constituted overdevelopment.

A motion was moved by Councillor Palmen, seconded by Councillor Sarah
Gibson, to refuse the application. Following a vote the motion was lost.

A motion was then moved by Councillor Jerry Wickham, seconded by Councillor
Trevor Carbin, to approve the application. At the conclusion of debate, it was,

Page 17



Resolved:
That planning permission be granted subject to the following conditions.

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved plans:

JKO1la Location and Site Plan Registered on 28 July 2017; JK02a Existing
Floor Plans Registered on 28 July 2017; JKO3a Existing Plans/Sections
Registered on 28 July 2017; JKO04b Existing Elevations Received on 6
October 2017; JKO5a Proposed Plans/Sections Registered on 28 July
2017; JKO6a Proposed Elevations Registered on 28 July 2017; JKO7
Existing Elevations Registered on 28 July 2017

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

3. No development shall commence on site until details of the
proposed dormers, including materials, at a minimum scale of 1:20 have
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area.

4. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until
secure covered cycle parking for at least 7 no. bicycles have been
provided in accordance with the hereby approved plans and shall be
retained for use at all times thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles
are provided and to encourage travel by means other than the private car.

5. No part of the development hereby approved shall be first brought into
use until three car parking spaces have been provided within the site, with
no obstruction thereto and with sufficient access thereto. These spaces
shall be maintained and remain available for this use at all times
thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking
within the site in the interests of highway safety.

INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT:

1. The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure

Page 18



90

Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging
Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability
Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL payment due. If
an Additional Information Form has not already been submitted, please
submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, you
may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the
relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL
Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to
Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development. Should
development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by
the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and
full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you
require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to
the Council's Website
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communit
yinfrastructurelevy

Urgent Items

There were no Urgent Items.

(Duration of meeting: 3.00 - 5.15 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Kieran Elliott of Democratic Services,

direct line 01225 718504, e-mail kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 19


http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Wiltshire Council

Western Area Planning Committee

15 November 2017

Planning Appeals Received between 06/10/2017 and 03/11/2017

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or | Appeal Type Officer Appeal Overturn
COMM Recommend | Start Date | at Cttee
17/05792/TPO Eton House HILPERTON T1 - Austrian Pine tree - fell DEL House Holder Refuse 17/10/2017 | No
75A Hill Street Appeal
Hilperton, Trowbridge
Wiltshire, BA14 7RS
Planning Appeals Decided between 06/10/2017 and 03/11/2017
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or | Appeal Officer Appeal Decision Costs
COMM | Type Recommend | Decision Date Awarded?
16/03876/FUL 75 Studland Park WESTBURY Proposed new dwelling in grounds | DEL Written Refuse Allowed with | 18/10/2017 | None
Westbury, Wiltshire of existing dwelling (amended Reps Conditions
BA13 3HN location and design)
17/01973/FUL Vale Cottage MELKSHAM Proposed two storey extension DEL House Refuse Dismissed 10/10/2017 | None
138 Top Lane WITHOUT Holder
Whitley, Melksham Appeal
Wiltshire, SN12 8QZ
17/02678/FUL Oakley Farm MELKSHAM Erection of tourist accommodation | DEL Written Refuse Dismissed 06/10/2017 | Appellant
) Lower Woodrow WITHOUT Reps applied for
o Forest, Wiltshire Costs -
) SN12 7RB REFUSED
N
H

9 wa)| epuaby




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM NO.
WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

15 NOVEMBER 2017

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL PARISH OF BRATTON PATH NO. 42
AND THE PARISH OF EDINGTON PATH NO. 36 DEFINTIVE MAP AND
STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2017

Purpose of Report

1. To:

0] Consider three objections to The Wiltshire Council Parish of Bratton Path
No. 42 and the Parish of Edington Path No. 36 Definitive Map and
Statement Modification Order 2017 made under Section 53 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981.

(i) Recommend that the Order be forwarded to the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs with a recommendation from
Wiltshire Council that the Order be confirmed without modification.

Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan

2. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network which is fit
for purpose, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

Background

3. On 3 October 2016 Wiltshire Council received an application from a resident of
Bratton, for an Order to record a public footpath over land at Luccombe Mill,
Bratton. The claimed footpath forms a semi-circular route commencing on Imber
Road opposite No. 3 Imber Road, leading east through land that is part of
Luccombe Mill, crossing over a water course and along a raised path over old
watercress beds before reaching land owned by Wessex Water. The path then
turns in a southerly direction and follows a track through the valley which loops
back onto Imber Road (please see claimed route at page 2 of Decision Report at
Appendix 1). The path is approximately 620 metres in length.

4. The application adduced evidence from 81 people who completed User

Evidence Forms (UEFs) detailing their use on foot of the application route in part
or in full for varying lengths of time dating from 1939 to 2016.

CMO09838/F Pag? 23



10.

11.

For public rights to have been acquired under statute law (see Appendix 1
paragraph 9.7 — Highways Act 1980 Section 31) it is necessary for the use

to have been uninterrupted for a period of at least 20 years in a manner that is
‘as of right’, that is, without force, without secrecy and without permission. This
would give rise to a ‘presumption of dedication’.

A presumption of dedication may be defeated in a number of ways, including the
erection and maintenance of signage indicating that there is no intention to
dedicate public rights, effective challenges to use, the closure of the claimed
route (for example a closure for one day every year may be effective), the
granting of permission or by depositing a number of documents with the council
as prescribed by Section 31(5) and (6) of the Highways Act 1980 (see
Appendix 1 paragraph 9.7).

Wiltshire Council has a duty to consider all relevant available evidence and
officers conducted an initial consultation on the application dated 13 October
2016 with an end date of 25 November 2016.

All of the evidence and responses were duly considered in the council’s Decision
Report appended here at Appendix 1 (Section 8). Applying the legal test
contained within Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (see
Appendix 1 paragraph 9.1), the application formed a reasonable allegation that
a public right subsisted. An Order was made to record the path as a footpath in
the definitive map and statement.

The Order was duly advertised and attracted three objections. A copy of the
Order is appended here at Appendix 2.

Where objections are received to an Order Wiltshire Council may not confirm or
abandon the Order and must forward it to the Secretary of State for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs (SOSEFRA) for determination. However, it must first
consider the representations and objections to the Order and make a
recommendation to SOSEFRA regarding the determination of the Order.

It is important that only the evidence adduced or discovered is considered and it
is noted that matters relating to desirability, the environment, need, privacy
concerns or health and safety are irrelevant for the application of Section 53 of
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Main Considerations for the Council

12.

13.

CMO09838/F

Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 places a duty upon the
Surveying Authority to keep the definitive map and statement of public rights of
way under continuous review.

The Order is made under Section 53(3)(c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, based on:

‘the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other
relevant evidence available to them) shows-

Page 24



14.

15.

16.

17.

CMO09838/F

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the definitive map and statement
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the
map relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists
is a public path, a restricted byway or subject to section 54A, a byway open to all
traffic.”

Under Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 “where a way over any land,
other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise
at common law to any presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by
the public as of right without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is
to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.”

Evidence is the key and therefore objections to the making of the Order must, to
be valid, challenge the evidence available to the Surveying Authority. The
Authority is not able to take into account other considerations, such as the
suitability of the way for use by the public, the proximity of any other paths or
facilities, environmental impacts and any need or desire for the claimed route.

Objections:

(1)  Mr Henry Pelly

(2)  Mrs Charlotte King (nee Seymour)
(3) Ms Sarah Seymour

These objections can be seen in full at Appendix 3.

Comments on the objections

Mr Henry Pelly
Mr Pelly in his objection states [Appendix 3(iii)]

“the route was not actually used throughout the 20 year period so as to
bring home to the landowners that a right was being asserted against
them”. From the evidence provided by the 81 UEFs it seems highly unlikely that
any owner of the land would not have been aware of use of the path given the
frequency of use that has been claimed. Mr Pelly’s objection alludes to use of the
route, it is only the nature of the use that is contended in all other
correspondence received.

“Use of the order route was not, throughout the period, “without
interruption” as required by Section 31(1).” The evidence provided to the
council does not demonstrate any break in usage during the relevant 20 year
period of 1996-2016. One of the 81 UEFs states a nesting swan stopped them
from using the path 15 years ago, and two users have documented signs asking
people not to use the path during bird nesting season. These instances do not
demonstrate a break in use of the path. These signs do not suggest there is no
public right of way.

Page 25



“the evidence demonstrates that relevant landowners have at various
times taken steps effective to confer permission to use the Order Route”
As part of the initial consultation statements from the Seymour Family (the
previous owners of Luccombe Mill) Gladys Drewtt (former parish councillor) and
Tim Goode (gardener for Luccombe Mill since 2010) were submitted (see
Appendix A) in which it is claimed notices were erected at various times to
inform the public the route was private and not a public right of way. This is in
direct conflict with the evidence supplied in the UEFs, in which only one user
states they saw any sign stating the route was private or not a public right of
way, 80 users make no reference to signs of this nature on the path — (see
decision report Section 14, Appendix 1). No incontrovertible evidence has been
produced by the landowners to demonstrate that notices were in place and
viewed by the relevant audience.

“there is evidence that use of the Order Route over the land was, at various
times, contentious or by force and so not as of right for that reason”.

Again there is a conflict of evidence between the users of the path and the
previous landowners and objectors to the application with none of the 81 users
stating they climbed or saw a barrier and three statements from objectors on
behalf of Mr Pelly saying there was either a metal barrier or wooden fence
erected across the way (see Appendix A). There is no incontrovertible evidence
on this point and so it is appropriate that the Order was made (see paragraph
15.2 of the decision report, Appendix 1).

18. Objection from Charlotte King (nee Seymour) [Appendix 3(i)]

Ms King'’s objection in letter form objects to the made Order on the basis that the
route was used when in the ownership of her father by his permission when far
fewer people used it and that use increased as the village grew larger. “He did
this because in those days the village was much smaller and it was a case of
everyone knowing everyone else. The village has vastly increased in population
over the years and the damage caused by walkers has also increased”. This
objection appears to be in conflict with Mr Pelly’s objection point discussed
earlier in this report “the route was not actually used throughout the 20 year
period so as to bring home to the landowners that a right was being asserted
against them”. As Ms King states, her father who owned the property appeared
to be fully aware the path was in use and in fact it was increasing over the years
(this point is supported by the chart of use of the path which can be seen at
Section 12.2 of the decision report at Appendix 1). Further points raised in

Ms King’s objection are that use of the path led to crime such as her father’s
chainsaw being stolen, bikes damaged the path, a dog off the lead killed the
family cat, trespass occurred, the privacy of the house would be impeded and
other routes can be used. All of these points cannot be considered as part of
this application as they are not relevant to the legislation set out in Section 31 of
the 1980 Highways Act which applies to this case.

19. Objection from Sarah Seymour [Appendix 3(ii)]

Sarah Seymour in objection claims that the path goes through the garden of
Luccombe Mill and use was by permission of her father and grandfather (the
previous owners) and that the pond which people have stated is important to
them could be accessed via land owned by the Water Board, which has not

Page 26

CMO09838/F



20.

21.

22.

CMO09838/F

objected to the Order. She also states there are many other footpaths in Bratton
for people to enjoy. The issue of privacy cannot be considered in this case;
neither can the availability of other routes in close proximity. The issue of
permission is a key argument which again is disputed by either side. Of the 81
UEFs submitted, 10 users state they had permission to use the path from Mr or
Mrs Seymour (the previous owners) dating back to permission granted to one
user in 1971. Nine other users claim it was widely known that the Seymours
were happy for people to use the path and Mrs Seymour would see people using
the path and wave - but no direct permission had been granted to them.
Therefore, 71 users said no permission was granted to them. The objectors to
the case, including the previous and current landowners and gardener, have
stated use of the path was by permission only. The issue of permission is
discussed at paragraph 15.4 - 15.6 of the decision report, Appendix 1.

It should be noted other objections were received to the application that were not
received in time to be considered by the Decision Report and were received
before the Order was made and so were not considered valid objections to the
Order. These can be seen at Appendix 4. Two late submissions were also
received in support of the order; these can be seen at Appendix 5. The content
of these statements are available for consideration by the committee but do not
change the officers’ proposal.

The council cannot take into account the number of objections but must consider
the evidence contained within those objections against the evidence contained
within the representations of support and the evidence already before the
council, as outlined within the Decision Report attached at Appendix 1. There
will inevitably be points of conflict within the evidence of objectors and that of the
supporters. For this reason, the Order has been made on a reasonable
allegation that a right of way for the public on foot subsists, which is a lower test
than the balance of probabilities (see Appendix 1- paragraph 28.2). Where
there is no incontrovertible evidence against this, it is in the public interest for a
local authority to support the Order.

The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex p.Bagshaw and
Norton, Queen’s Bench Division (Owen J.): April 28, 1994, deals with the
applications of both Mrs Norton and Mr Bagshaw, who had applied to their
respective county councils for Orders to add public rights of way to the definitive
map and statements, based upon witness evidence of at least 20 years
uninterrupted public user and where the councils determined not to make
Orders. On appeal, in both cases, the Secretary of State considered that the
councils should not be directed to make the Orders. At judicial review, Owen J
allowed both applications; quashed the Secretary of State’s decisions and held
that:

“(1) under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the tests
which the county council and the then Secretary of State needed to apply were
whether the evidence produced by the claimant, together will all the other
evidence available, showed that either (a) a right of way subsisted or (b) that it
was reasonable to allege that a right of way subsisted. On test (a) it would be
necessary to show that the right of way did subsist on the balance of
probabilities. On test (b) it would be necessary to show that a reasonable

Pagg 27



23.

24.

25.

26.

CMO09838/F

person, having considered all the relevant evidence available, could reasonably
allege a right of way to subsist. Neither the claimant nor the court were to be the
judge of that and the decision of the Secretary of State was final if he had asked
himself the right question, subject to an allegation of Wednesbury
unreasonableness. The evidence necessary to establish that a right of way is
reasonably alleged to subsist is less than that needed to show that a right of way
does subsist. The Secretary of State had erred in law in both cases as he could
not show that test (b) had been satisfied.”

Owen J also held that:

“(2) In a case where the evidence from witnesses as to user is conflicting, if the
right would be shown to exist by reasonably accepting one side and reasonably
rejecting the other on paper, it would be reasonable to allege that such a right
subsisted. The reasonableness of that rejection may be confirmed or destroyed
by seeing the witnesses at the inquiry.”

It is notable in the Norton case that, the Secretary of State “...notes that the user
evidence submitted in support of a presumption of dedication is limited to four
persons claiming 20 years of vehicular use as of right; he must weigh this
against the statements from the landowner, supported by 115 signed forms and
the Layham and Polstead Parish Councils, indicating the use of the route has
been on a permissive basis and that active steps to prevent a presumption of
dedication arising have been taken...”. In both the Norton and Bagshaw cases
Owen J concluded that:

“If, however, as probably was so in each of these cases, there were to be
conflicting evidence which could only be tested or evaluated by cross-
examination, an order would seem likely to be appropriate.”

Even in a case with only limited supporting evidence and a large number of
objections, Owen J held that an Order would seem appropriate. When this case
law is applied to the Bratton case, where there are 81 completed UEFs, it
suggests that the making of a definitive map modification order is appropriate.

In such a case concerning the balancing test to be applied to the evidence, the
authority is correct in making the Order on the grounds that it is reasonable to
allege that a right of way for the public on foot subsists. Where the objectors
have not submitted incontrovertible evidence to defeat that reasonable
allegation, the committee should recommend to the Secretary of State that the
Order be confirmed without modification. The only way to properly determine the
Order is to see the witnesses at a public inquiry where they may give evidence in
chief and their evidence may be tested through the process of cross-examination
to establish whether, on the balance of probabilities, the public right has been
acquired.

Page 28



Overview and Scrutiny Engagement

27. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement is not required in this case. The council must
follow the statutory process which is set out under Section 53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981.

Safequarding Considerations

28.  Considerations relating to safeguarding anyone affected by the making of the
Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and
confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone.

Public Health Implications

29.  Any public health implications arising from the making of an Order under
Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not considerations
permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and confirmed based on
the relevant evidence alone.

Corporate Procurement Implications

30. Inthe event this Order is forwarded to the Secretary of State there are a number
of opportunities for expenditure that may occur and these are covered in
paragraphs 34 to 36 of this report.

Environmental and Climate Change Impact of the Proposal

31. Any environmental or climate change considerations arising from the making of
an Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and
confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

32.  Matters relating to the equalities impact of the proposal are not relevant
considerations in Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Risk Assessment

33.  Wiltshire Council has a duty to keep the definitive map and statement of public
rights of way under continuous review and therefore there is no risk associated
with the council pursuing this duty correctly. Evidence has been brought to the
council’s attention that there is an error in the definitive map and statement of
public rights of way which ought to be investigated and it would be unreasonable
for the council not to seek to address this fact. If the council fails to pursue its
duty it is liable to complaints being submitted through the council’s complaints
procedure, potentially leading to complaints to the Ombudsman. Ultimately, a
request for judicial review could be made with significant costs against the
council where it is found to have acted unlawfully.

CMO09838/F Pag$ 29



Financial Implications

34. The making and determination of Orders under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 is a statutory duty for Wiltshire Council for which financial provision has
been made.

35.  Where there are outstanding objections to the making of the Order it must be
determined by the Secretary of State. The outcome of the Order will then be
determined by written representations, local hearing or local public inquiry, all of
which have a financial implication for the council. If the case is determined by
written representations the cost to the council is £200 to £300; however, where a
local hearing is held the costs to the council are estimated at £300 to £500. A
one day public inquiry could cost between £1,500 and £3,000 if Wiltshire Council
continues to support the making of the Order (i.e. where legal representation is
required by the council) and around £300 to £500 where Wiltshire Council no
longer supports the making of the Order (i.e. where no legal representation is
required by the council and the case is presented by the applicant).

36.  Where the Council objects to the Order, the Order must still be forwarded to the
Secretary of State for determination. As in the case of a supported Order, the
possible processes and costs range from £200 to £3,000 as detailed at
paragraph 35 above.

Legal Implications

37.  Where the council does not support the Order, clear reasons for this must be
given and must relate to the evidence available. The applicant may seek judicial
review of the council’s decision if he sees it as incorrect or unjust by them. The
cost for this may be up to £50,000.

Options Considered

38. Members should now consider the objections received and the evidence as a
whole in order to determine whether or not we continue to support the making of
the Order. The making of the Order has been objected to, therefore the Order
must now be submitted to the Secretary of State for determination and members
of the committee may determine the recommendation (which should be based
upon the evidence) to be attached to the Order when it is forwarded to the
Secretary of State as follow:

0] The Order be confirmed without modification
(i) The Order be confirmed with modification
(i)  The Order should not be confirmed

Reason for Proposal

39. Unless the objections and representations are withdrawn the Order must be
forwarded to the Secretary of State for Environment Food and Rural Affairs for
determination.

CMO09838/F Page égo



40.

41.

42.

It is considered that nothing in the objectors’ submissions demonstrates
sufficiently that there was no intention to dedicate a public right of way and that
no-one communicated any lack of intention to the relevant audience. This is
demonstrated by the evidence that a considerable number of users of the path
were unaware of a declared non-intention. Neither did they satisfy any statutory
process of demonstrating a negative intention to dedicate the land, i.e. a valid
deposit, plan, statement and subsequent statutory declaration under Section
31(6) of the Highways Act 1980, or a notice under Section 31(5) informing the
relevant authority such notices have been torn down (see Section 16.2 through
16.5 on pages 32-33 of the Decision Report, Appendix 1).

The testimony of users of the path has been questioned by the objectors who
claim that use has been by permission, signs were erected on the path declaring
the way as private and that barriers were erected across the route. Where this
evidence is conflicted it may be tested, along with all other evidence at a public
inquiry. In R v Secretary of State for the Environment ex p. Bagshaw and Norton
[1994] 68 P&CR 402 Owen J “In a case where the evidence of witnesses as to
user is conflicting, if the right would be shown to exist by reasonably accepting
one side and reasonably rejecting the other on paper, it would be reasonable to
allege that such a right subsisted. The reasonableness of that rejection may be
confirmed or destroyed by seeing the witnesses at the inquiry.”

In making this Order the council considered that a reasonable allegation as to
the acquisition of public rights over the Order Route had been made. Itis
considered that no further evidence has been adduced that shows that, on the
balance of probabilities, a public right was not acquired The testing of witnesses
will be key to the final decision in this case but the council’s duty remains with
supporting the Order based on the evidence it has before it.

Proposal

43.

That “The Wiltshire Council Parish of Bratton Path No. 42 and the Parish of
Edington Path No. 36 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2017” is
forwarded to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs with
the recommendation that it is confirmed as made.

Tracy Carter
Associate Director — Waste and Environment

Report Author:
Craig Harlow
Acting Rights of Way Officer — Definitive Map

CMO09838/F

Pagg 31



The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of
this Report:

User Evidence Forms

(The above-mentioned documents are available to be viewed at the offices of Rights of
Way and Countryside, Wiltshire Council, Unit 9, Ascot Court, Trowbridge.)

Appendices:

Appendix 1 - Decision Report
Appendix A to Decision Report — consultation response statements
Appendix B supporting evidence

Appendix 2 - “The Wiltshire Council Parish of Bratton Path No. 42 and the Parish
of Edington Path No. 36 Definitive Map and Statement Modification
Order 20177

Appendix 3 - Objections to the Order

Appendix 4 - Other objections

Appendix 5 — Late submissions in support of the Order

CMO09838/F Page1§2



Appendix 1

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF
PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

1. Purpose of Report

1.1. To determine an application, made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way, in the
Parish of Bratton, leading from Imber Road through the grounds of Luccombe Mill in a
generally easterly direction before turning in a southerly direction through Wessex Water

owned land and reconnecting to Imber Road, Bratton.

2. Relevance to Council’s Business Plan

2.1. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network fit for purpose, making
Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit.

3. Location Plan

S ol |op, BUBT

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 33



3.1 2014 Aerial Photo of area

4, Claimed Footpath Route

Wiltshire Council A
Luccombe Nill S s - _ﬁ!"'_ =

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 34



4.1. The application is made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to add a
footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way in the parish of Bratton,
leading from point A, on Imber Road, opposite number 3 Imber Road, in a generally easterly

direction then turning south and then west to its junction with Imber Road, at point B.

5. Photographs
Photos taken on 12th May 2017 of the claimed route.

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 35



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53

Page 36

APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY —IMBER ROAD BRATTON



)

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 37



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 38



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 39



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 40



DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 41



10

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 42



11

DECISION REPORT

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY —IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 43



6.1.

6.2.

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

Registered Landowners

The two owners of the land affected by the application are :
Mr Henry Pelly of Luccombe Mil, Imber Road Bratton , Wiltshire, BA13 4SH
Wessex Water, Claverton Down Road, Claverton Down, Bath, BA2 7WW

The applicant, Mr Phillip Workman has served formal notice on the landowner Mr Henry Pelly
using the “Form of Notice of Application for Modification Order as set out in regulation 8(3)
Schedule 7 of the Wildlife and Countryside ( Definitive Maps and Statements) Regulations
1993 SI 1993 No 12. Wessex Water did not have formal notice served to them by the

applicant but have since been consulted in the initial consultation period.

Background

Wiltshire Council are in receipt of an application made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981, to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights
of way, in the parish of Bratton, running from Imber Road through the grounds of Luccombe
Mill and land owned by Wessex Water before looping back onto Imber Road. The application
is dated 3" October 2016 and is made by Phillip Workman of 58 Manor Fields, Bratton,
Westbury, Wiltshire , BA13 4ST on the grounds that public footpath rights can be reasonably
alleged to subsist or subsist over the land, on the balance of probabilities, based on user
evidence and should be recorded within the definitive map and statement of public rights of

way.

The application forms comply with the regulations set out in regulation 8(3) Schedule 7 of the
Wildlife and Countryside ( Definitive Maps and Statements) Regulations 1993 SI 1993 No 12
and are accompanied by a plan drawn at a scale of 1:5000 highlighting the claimed route,
56 completed witness evidence forms and supporting evidence. A further 25 witness forms

were received within a few weeks of the application, taking the total of witness forms to 81.

The claimed route is located in the parish of Bratton, which lies to the east of Westbury and
south west of Devizes with the B3098 passing through the village. The claimed route forms a
semi circular route on Imber Road, Bratton. Starting on Imber Road opposite 3 Imber Road
the route runs east through land owned by Luccombe Mill, crossing over a water course and

along a raised path over old watercress beds before reaching land owned by Wessex Water.
12

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 44



8.

8.1.

8.2.

The path then turns in a southerly direction and follows a track up the valley which loops

back onto Imber Road. The path is approximately 620 metres in length in total.

Initial Consultation

Wiltshire Council undertook an initial consultation regarding the proposal on 13™ October
2016. User groups (including The Ramblers), Bratton Parish Council, landowners, the
Council member for area, neighbouring properties and all interested parties were consulted
as part of this process. The following replies were received.

Bratton Parish Council replied by letter, the contents of which were as follows:

“Dear Craig With regard to the above DMMO | would like to confirm that Bratton Parish
Council support the application due to the significant number of witness statements made by
local residents and the strength of feeling about this issue in the village.”

“Your faithfully Amanda Callard Chair, Bratton Parish Council”

Wendy Brook replied by email :

“I would like to add my name to support the efforts of local residents to secure the pubic right
of way for the Watercress walk.

My involvement with the walk goes back to the 1980s when my sister lived in the village. |
live in Trowbridge. We often took our children there for its magic and peace. She has since
died and I return with my grandchildren to recapture those days and to remember her.

The natural world has always meant a lot to both of us. The area is a valuable habitat with
beautiful flora and fauna and was probably an ancient site for religious waterside ceremonies
and should be viewed as a conservation site. We have seen long eared owls roosting in the
hedges on the roadside which flanks the site.

The new owners may not have an interest in this. Their privacy is still intact, as we have
never observed anyone across the lake EVER and the walk does not intrude on this.

Local walkers have been accessing the walk for well over the required 20 years and as a
warden hope you will see the relevance to their enjoyment of this peaceful and calm place.
We have few of these left in our environment.

The RSPB may well be interested in the habitat for rare birds, and so would endorse its
protection.

Please can you contact me with an update of the current application and | would be happy to

13

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 45



8.3.

8.4.

meet with you or others who are appealing.
Yours sincerely
Wendy Brook”

Trevor Cherrett replied by email:

“‘Dear Mr Harlow

I am writing to submit my strong support for an application for an Order to add a footpath to
the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. Unfortunately | was away in

September and missed the opportunity to submit a formal statement.

| have enjoyed the regular use (on average once a month ) of this path for over 16 years,
benefitting like others in the area from the quiet enjoyment of a beautiful and secluded
woodland and stream. It is well away from the main property residence, Luccombe Mill, and
enjoyed the tacit support of the previous property owner for local people to enjoy. There

have never been any signs or indications that the path is private or not a public right of way.

Preventing access to the path from the road (points A and B on the Application map ) would
destroy a much valued amenity for the village and represent a huge loss to the local
community. | hope very much that the application to make this a public footpath is

successful.
Please let me know if you need further information — my contact points are below.

Thank you Yours sincerely Trevor Cherrett”

Jason Oliver of Parker Bullen Solicitors replied on behalf of Mr Pelly the owner of Luccombe
Mill:

“Dear Mr Harlow

My firm has been instructed by Henry Pelly in relation to the above application, and | have
received a copy of your letter to my client dated 13 October 2016. Mr Pelly wishes to oppose
the application and will submit evidence for your consideration in due course.

Yours sincerely Jason Oliver”

Mr Oliver in due course sent through statements from 6 individuals opposing the proposal
and supporting documents, these will be considered and discussed at section 13 of this

report.

14

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 46



9. Main Considerations for the Council

9.1. The definitive map and statement of public rights of way are conclusive evidence as to the
particulars contained therein, however this is without prejudice to any question whether the
public had at that date any right of way other than that right. Wiltshire Council is the
Surveying Authority for the County of Wiltshire, excluding the Borough of Swindon. The
Surveying Authority is the body responsible for the preparation and continuous review of the
definitive map and statement of public rights of way. The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Section 53(2)(b) applies:

“As regards every definitive map and statement the Surveying Authority shall-

(@) as soon as reasonably practicable after the commencement date, by order make
such modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be requisite in
consequence of the occurrence, before that date, of any of the events specified in

subsection (3); and

(b)  as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous review and as
soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on or after that date, of any of
these events, by order make such modifications to the map and statement as

appear to them to be requisite in consequence of that event.”
9.2. The event referred to in subsection 2 (as above) relevant to this case is:

“(3) (c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other

relevant evidence available to them) shows —

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is
reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, being a
right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public path, a

restricted byway or subject to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic.”

9.3. Section 53 (5) of the Act allows any person to apply for a definitive map modification order

under subsection 2 (above), as follows:

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 47



“Any person may apply to the authority for an order under subsection (2) which makes
such modifications as appear to the authority to be requisite in consequence of the
occurrence of one or more events falling within paragraph (b) or (c) of subsection (3);
and the provisions of Schedule 14 shall have effect as to the making and determination

of applications under this subsection.”
9.4. Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, states:

“Form of applications

1. An application shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be accompanied

by:

(a) a map drawn to the prescribed scale and showing the way or ways to which

the application relates; and

(b) copies of any documentary evidence (including statements of withesses)

which the applicant wishes to adduce in support of the application.”

The prescribed scale is included within the “Statutory Instruments 1993 No.12 Rights of
Way — The Wildlife and Countryside (Definitive Maps and Statements) Regulations
19937, which states that “A definitive map shall be on a scale of not less than 1/25,000.”

2. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the applicant shall serve a notice stating that the
application has been made on every owner and occupier of any land to which the

application relates

(2) If, after reasonable inquiry has been made, the authority are satisfied that it is not
practicable to ascertain the name or address of an owner or occupier of any land to
which the application relates, the authority may direct that the notice required to be
served on him by sub-paragraph (1) may be served by addressing it to him by the
description “owner’ or ‘occupier’ of the land (describing it) and by affixing it to some

conspicuous object or objects on the land.

(3) When the requirements of this paragraph have been complied with, the applicant

shall certify that fact to the authority.

(4) Every notice or certificate under this paragraph shall be in the prescribed form.

16

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 48



9.5.

9.6.

The application to add a right of way to the definitive map of public rights of way in the parish
of Bratton was not strictly compliant with section 53 (5) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981, specifically Schedule 14 (2) of the act as the applicant failed to serve notice on one of
the landowners over which part of the claimed route leads. Wessex Water did not have a
form 2 served on them by the applicant; however they have been consulted on the

application during the consultation period undertaken by the Council.

The failure to comply with the terms of paragraph 2 of Schedule 14 and its effect on an
application were considered in the Court of Appeal in the case of R (Warden and Fellows of
Winchester College and Humphrey Feeds Limited v Hampshire County Council & Secretary
of State for Environment , Food and Rural Affairs (SoOSEFRA) [2008] EWCA Civ 431).
Although the first and principal issue related to public vehicular rights the court considered
the implications of the failure of the terms of paragraph 2 as a second issue. Dyson LJ
considered that the matter rested on the consequences of the defect rather than requiring

strict compliance.

“69 It is true that the certificate was not properly issued, but it does not follow that the
consequent determination was invalid. In R v Soneji [2005] UKHL [2006] 1 AC 340 at [23],
having reviewed the authorities on the distinction between mandatory and directory
requirements, Lord Steyn said “the emphasis ought to be on the consequences of non-
compliance, and posing the question whether Parliament can fairly be taken to have
intended total invalidity. That is how | would approach what is ultimately a question of

statutory construction.”

“70 Adopting that approach, | conclude that Parliament cannot fairly be taken to have
intended that, if a paragraph 2(2) certificate is wrongly issued, it must follow that a
determination on which it is based is invalid. The facts of the present case show that the
better approach is to examine the consequences of the defect in the certificate. If they are
serious and the defective certificate has caused real prejudice, then it may be that the
determination of which it is based should be declared to be invalid. But in my judgement, on
the facts of the case, the judge reached the correct conclusion on this issue and for the right

reasons.”

Taking this into consideration Wiltshire Council has continued to process the application and
made all efforts to ensure all landowners have had a fair opportunity to make any

representations they wish.

17

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 49



9.7. Section 31 (as amended) of the Highways Act 1980, refers to the dedication of a way as a

highway, presumed after public use for 20 years:

“(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of it by

(2)

®3)

(4)

()

(6)

DECISION REPORT

the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has
been actually enjoyed by the public as of right without interruption for a full period
of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless
there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to
dedicate it.

The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated
retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought
into question, whether by a notice such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or

otherwise.

Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes —

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the way a
notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1% January 1934, or any later date on which
it was erected, the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is

sufficient evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway.

In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from year to
year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall,
notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the right to place and maintain
such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3) above, so however, that no injury

is done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant.

Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is subsequently torn
down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to the appropriate council
that the way is not dedicated as highway is, in the absence of proof to a contrary
intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner of the land to
dedicate the way as highway.

An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council-

(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile and

18

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 50



(b) a statement indicating what ways (if any) over the land he admits to having
been dedicated as highways;

And, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory declarations

made by that owner or by his successors in title and lodged by him or them with

the appropriate council at any time —

(i)  within ten years from the date of deposit

(i)  within ten years from the date on which any previous declaration was last

lodged under this section,

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated in the

declaration) over the land delineated on the said map has been dedicated as a

highway since the date of the deposit, or since the date of the lodgement of such

previous declaration, as the case may be, are, in the absence of proof of a

contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner or his

successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.

(7) Forthe purpose of the foregoing provisions of this section, ‘owner’, in relation to
any land, means a person who is for the time being entitled to dispose of the fee
simple in the land; and for the purposes of subsections (5) and (6) above ‘the
appropriate council’ means the council of the county, metropolitan district or
London Borough in which the way (in the case of subsection (5)) or the land (in the
case of subsection (6)) is situated or, where the land is situated in the City, the

Common Council.

(7A) Subsection (7B) applies where the matter bringing the right of the public to use a
way into question is an application under section 53(5) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 for an Order making modifications so as to show the right on

the definitive map and statement.

(7B) The date mentioned in subsection (2) is to be treated as being the date on which
the application is made in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 14 to the
1981 Act.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 51



(8) Nothing in this section affects any incapacity of a corporation or other body or
person in possession of land for public and statutory purposes to dedicate a way
over land as a highway if the existence of a highway would be incompatible with

those purposes.”

9.8. Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, states that the authority may consider a range of

historical documents and their provenance:

“Evidence of dedication of a way as highway

A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not been
dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, took place, shall
take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or other relevant
document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such weight thereto as the court
or tribunal considers justified by the circumstances, including the antiquity of the
tendered document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which it was
made or compiled, and the custody in which it has been kept and from which it is
produced.”

10. Documentary Evidence

10.1. Ordnance Survey (OS) maps covering the area were viewed at the Swindon and Wiltshire
History Centre in Chippenham to ascertain if any historical evidence could be found of a
public right existing over the claimed route.

OS Map 1887 Scale of 1:2500

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 52



10.2. OS Map 1900 Scale of 1:2500

10.3. OS Map 1924 Scale of 1:2500

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY —IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 53



10.4 OS Map 1958 Scale of 1:25000

10.5.In the maps above it can be seen that no recorded footpath or any other path was recorded
on any of the OS maps dating back to 1887. It should be noted from 1888, OS maps carried a
disclaimer that the representation of a track or way on the map was not evidence of a public
right of way.

10.6.The preliminary step to creating the definitive map of public rights of way as a result of the
NPACA 1949 was for each parish to submit a map to the county council marking the public
rights of way which they believed existed in their parish.

10.7.The parish claim map and statements, submitted by Bratton Parish Council do not record the

claimed path as a public right of way.

/L W;.: G’ ; &\X ' ,;‘-—' auz?s'rzs ﬁ[;,/» \‘ !1 y vv :"‘v"?‘,"" oy /_,/ ')///__ !
Lo g , _»-Y \ ./'- N o
) -

"*L\" ng '\\‘_ ‘ - | )
| ,_Jatt()ll/w L/
I\~ Yk el 7 /

| |
Stradbrook

<HW Meiyi Ghap.

[

Famulus ‘\.;0\

G N 2 L3 TH e -
Lucgombe Mill g
“( Disused)

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 54



10.8. The 1953 Warminster and Westbury District Council Definitive Map does not record the route
as a public right of way.

2
S

4
Patcom

I8

{

i
:g ““l

10.9.In summary, no evidence has been found that the claimed route has been recorded as a

public footpath or a path of any kind in the various documents examined.

11. Twenty Year Use

11.1. Section 31 of The Highways Act 1980 states: ( see paragraph 9.7 of this report for section
31 in full)

“(1) Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of it by
the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has
been actually enjoyed by the public as of right without interruption for a full period
of 20 years, the way is to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless
there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to

dedicate it.

11.2. The period of 20 years is taken as 20 years counted back from the date that the way was first
called into question. In this case it is deemed the way was brought into question when the

previous landowner of Luccombe Mill submitted a deposit and declaration with the council

23

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 55



12.

12.1.

12.2.

under section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 in January 2016 declaring there was no
intention to dedicate any public rights over that land. The definitive map modification
application was submitted on 3™ October 2016. Therefore the relevant 20 year period is
1996-2016.

User Evidence Forms

As part of the application, a total of 81 witness forms were submitted as evidence. The use of
the way claimed by these 81 users covers the period 1939-2016.

When considering the relevant 20 year period of 1996-2016 in this case, of the 81 users, 36
claim to have used the route for the whole 20 year period of 1996-2016 on a regular basis. A
further 28 users have claimed 10+ years of use between 1996-2016 and 11 have claimed
less than 10 years use in the 20 year period considered. This takes the total number of
individual users in the 20 year period to 75. The other 6 completed user forms either did not
fill out the question fully or their use was before 1996.

Below is a chart showing the number of individual users who claimed use in each year from
1939-2016.

Chart showing usage of way

80

70 4 ‘\
60 /’-/,-’J'
50 ’//,
40 I’dl?
30 A./\/ Number of users
; /N
10 J,J 20 year
L period

1996-2016

Number of users

|

0

1939
1943
1947
1951
1955
1959
1963
1967
1971
1975

979
1983
1987
1991
1995
1999
2003
2007
2011
2015

For the relevant 20 year period it can be seen that over 50 individual users are using the

path each year, with some significant use claimed from the 1970s onwards.

24

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 56



12.3. It should be noted that not all user forms claimed the entire route. There appeared to be
some confusion as to which parts of the route should be claimed which arose from the fact
that only the land through Luccombe Mill was blocked off to the public, the land owned by
Wessex Water has not been blocked to date. The whole route is subject to this application
including the land owned by Wessex Water. Upon analysing the submitted maps | have
concluded that 49 of the 81 forms are claiming the whole route and 23 solely claiming the
route through the grounds of Luccombe Mill and a further 9 are unclear. Some of the maps
drawn by the users are of varying standard and at times do not match the route on the
ground. | am confident having walked the route that the majority if not all users have used
the same route, the topography of the valley and clear defined track the path follows only
allows a recreational walker to have used one route. A large proportion of the maps are of
sufficient quality to reassure me and the written descriptions of the route that all users are

claiming the same route in whole or part.

12.4. All users have claimed to have accessed the path in part or whole by using the same
structures. Taking the path from its more northerly junction with Imber Road users claim to
have used a stile to access the path into the grounds of Luccombe Mill (now blocked),
following the path in an easterly direction until reaching a watercourse over which was a
bridge which was traversed onto the raised walkway through the old watercress beds. This
bridge was not in situ upon my visit on 11" October 2016 and appears to have been
removed. A number of users have provided photos of this bridge in use. If the application to
add a footpath is successful a means to cross the watercourse will be installed, although this
is not a point which can be considered when deciding this application. Once on the raised
walkway the path then exits the land of Luccombe Mill and into Wessex Water land via a stile
(now blocked). The path then follows a well defined track up the valley and back onto Imber

Road via a 3" stile (which is still available for use).

12.5. There is no statutory minimum level of users required for the presumption of dedication. The
guality of the evidence i.e its honesty, accuracy, credibility, and consistency are of much

greater importance than the number of users.

In R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council UKSK 11 (03 March 2010), a Town

and Village Green registration case, Lord Walker refers to Mr Laurence QC, who:

“...relied on a general proposition that if the public (or a section of the public) is to acquire a
right by prescription, they must by their conduct bring home to the landowner that a right is

being asserted against him...”

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 57



12.6.

12.7.

Lord Walker goes on to quote Lindley L J in the case of Hollins v Verney [1884] giving the
judgement of the Court of Appeal:

“...no actual user can be sufficient to satisfy the statute, unless during the whole of the
statutory term...the user is enough at any rate to carry to the mind of a reasonable person
who is in possession of the servient tenement the fact that a continuous right to enjoyment is
being asserted, and ought to be resisted if such right is not recognised and if resistance to it

is intended.”

What must be considered is the level of user, i.e. 81 witnesses whose claimed use is on the
whole consistent. The 20 year period which must be considered, 1996-2016, as stated
previously has 75 individual users claiming use at some point during that period with 71
users claiming to have used the route in 2015. The use of the path can be seen to be
increasing in recent years (see chart at 13.2). It should be noted the population of Bratton
has increased significantly in recent years, with a recorded population of 759 in 1971 and
1,248 in 2011. We must consider whether or not this claimed use is sufficient to make the
landowners aware that a public right was being asserted against them? The high level of
claimed use and clear public feeling and knowledge of this route would indicate the owners
of the land would have been aware of the path being used and this is supported in a number
of witness forms who claim the Seymours ( who owned Luccombe Mill from 1935-2016)

were aware of the use of the path.

The 81 people who filled out witness forms had an opportunity to give extra comments or
observations at the end of the form. A number of people took the opportunity to fill out this
section. Some of the comments were as follows;

“The watercress beds were a thriving village enterprise” “West Wilts health group used the

path for last 10 years” “the route is included on a dog walking website” “2014 foraging

workshop held on the route” “pre school gruffalo hunt on the path” “picked watercress when |
was 14 for 3 pence a bunch” “guides and rainbows used the path” “British ornithological
winter and summer atlas survey in 1982/82 and 2007-2011 carried out on path, also bird

ringing from 1982-1988” “walk was on village facebook page”

Many other people commented on the fond memories they have of using the path as

children and as adults using the path on family walks and as access to nature. It is clear this

26

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 58



13.

13.1.

13.2.

13.3.

13.4.

14,

14.1.

route is important to the local community from the volume of responses in a relatively small

village.

Objections

As part of the consultation process the landowners were consulted. The two owners affected
are Mr Henry Pelly of Luccombe Mill and Wessex Water.

No response to the initial consultation letter sent on the 13" October 2016 was received from
Wessex Water. A further email was sent to Wessex Water on the 23™ November asking for
their comments and views on this application. No response was received. A phone call was
then made in an attempt to find a contact to consult on this issue, the estates department of
Wessex Water gave the contact name of Daniel Baker as the relevant person. An email was
sent to Daniel Baker on the 25" November asking for his views or comments. No response
was received. In December a phone call was made and contact made with Mr Baker who
stated he was aware of the application and Wessex Water wished to remain neutral in the
case not making an objection or any comments of support. This has not been confirmed in

writing.

As discussed at 8.4 of this report Mr Pelly’s solicitors, Mr Jason Oliver of Parker Bullen
Solicitors, responded on his behalf to the consultation letter , submitting statements from 6
individuals (see appendix A) and two letters of supporting evidence ( see appendix B) in
support of their objection to this application.

The 6 statements are from four members of the Seymour family , Julian, Francis, James and
Sarah Seymour who resided in Luccombe Mill at various times until it was sold to the current
owner Mr Pelly in 2016. The other two statements are from Mr Tim Goode who has been
gardener at Luccombe Mill since February 2010 and Gladys Drewett who was a parish

councillor in Bratton for 25 years until 2015.

Signs and Notices

The statements from the Seymour family cover largely the same points. All four statements
state that at various times signs were erected stating the path was private but that these
signs were quickly taken down or removed. These claims are also repeated in Ms Drewett’s
statement and Mr Goode’s statement who states in reference to Mrs Seymour “On her
instructions | put up several signs informing people that the land was private and that the
path was not a public right of way”. These 6 statements are at odds with the user evidence

forms submitted by the public. In the forms filled out by the 81 witnesses question 9 on the

27

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 59



form asks “ Have you ever seen any signs or notices suggesting whether or not the
application route is a public right of way? ( for example “Private”, “Keep Out”, No right of Way
“Trespassers will be prosecuted”)” in response to this question many people stated yes since
the new owners have moved in or in recent months. The only response of the 81 that stated
they did see a sign of this nature before the new owners moved in answered the question “/
believe there may have been a notice on the middle stile stating permissive route” this user
claimed to have used the path between 2013 and 2016.

In summary there are 6 statements stating signs were erected on the path stating the way
was private and not a right of way and 1 stating there may have been a permissive sign on
the middle stile. There are 80 statements which declared they did not see any sign declaring

the path was private.

14.2. The intention or lack of intention to dedicate a path a public right of way is addressed in
section 31 of the Highways Act specifically addressing erecting notices or signs in the

following sections

(2) The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated
retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought
into question, whether by a notice such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or

otherwise.

(3) Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes —

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the way a

notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway; and

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1* January 1934, or any later date on which
it was erected, the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is

sufficient evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway.

(4) Inthe case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or from year to
year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to the land shall,
notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the right to place and maintain
such a notice as is mentioned in subsection (3) above, so however, that no injury

is done thereby to the business or occupation of the tenant.

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 60



(5) Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is subsequently torn
down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the land to the appropriate council
that the way is not dedicated as highway is, in the absence of proof to a contrary
intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner of the land to

dedicate the way as highway.

14.3.As can be seen it is the landowner’s responsibility to maintain any such notice and where it

15.

15.1.

15.2.

is torn down to give notice to the appropriate council that the way is not dedicated as
highway. Wiltshire council have no record of any such notice or that any such notices were
torn down. | did request any photographic evidence that Mr Oliver may be able to receive
from the Seymours or others showing that the notices that they claim to have been in place
were in place, Mr Pelly replied himself stating that unfortunately the Seymours or Mr Goode
did not think to take any photos. We do not have the exact wording of the signs that are
claimed were displayed.

As of right

Section 31(1) of the 1980 Highways Act requires that the use by the public must have been

as of right without interruption for a full period of 20 years.

The term ‘as of right’ is considered to mean without force (nec vi), without secrecy (nec

clam) and without permission (nec precario).

Without Force

None of the 81 users has declared in their form they used any force to access the path and
that they have accessed the path by the stiles and bridge already in place. Julian Seymour
and Francis Seymour both state “A fence that was erected to block the path was removed”.
This statement is not given a date as to when this fence was erected or subsequently
removed. Gladys Drewett also states in relation to Mrs Seymour “/ recall that she replaced a
metal fence with a boarded wooden one in an attempt to block access. This was
unsuccessful as somebody used pieces of timber to make a stile to enable people intent on
using the path to climb over the fence”. The statements of the objectors do not agree with

the statements of the users in this case.

29

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 61



15.3.

15.4.

15.5

15.6

Without Secrecy
There is coherence from all parties that the use of the path was without secrecy, the
Seymours were aware of the use of the path as stated in many user forms and by the

statements written in objection to the application including the Seymours themselves.

Without Permission

The question of permission is contentious in this case. A main point of Mr Pelly’s objection as
stated in the witness statements submitted by Mr Oliver accredited to members of the
Seymour family and others is that use of the path was by permission of Mr and Mrs Seymour
throughout the time they owned the land at Luccombe Mill. Paragraph 14 of the statements
of both Julian Seymour and Francis Seymour state “/ find it slightly galling that the
applicants seek to interpret my father’s community spirit and his generous easy going nature
approach to use of the path by others as an indication that he intended to dedicate the path
as a public right of way. This was never his intention for the reasons stated above there is no
basis for presumed dedication when the use was with his permission.” James Seymour and
Sarah Seymour stated in paragraph 3 of their statements “ It was never his intention that the
path be a public footpath”. Tim Goode and Gladys Drewett both state in paragraph 5 of their
statements “/ do not consider that the Seymours’ generosity in allowing people to use the
path should be interpreted as implying that they intended to dedicate the path as a public
right of way.”

Of the 81 witness forms submitted 10 people did say they had permission from the
landowner to use the path and 9 people stated they were aware permission was given by the
Seymours to use the path or the Seymours saw them using the path so this implied
permission. 62 stated clearly they had no permission to use the path and the 9 people who
stated they were aware of permission or permission was implied can be deemed to have
used the path as of right as they were not expressly given permission directly to use the

path.

Use of the path without permission as required under section 31(1) of the Highways Act is in
this case challenged by the landowners’ submissions. Wiltshire Council must consider the 6
statements and 10 user witness forms stating the use of the path was with permission and

weigh this against the 71 user statements declaring they did not have permission to use the

path.

30

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 62



16.

16.1.

16.2.

Landowner’s intention

Under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, there is a presumption of dedication after
uninterrupted public use of a route for a period of 20 years or more in a manner that is “as of
right”, unless during that period, there can be demonstrated there was no intention on the
landowner’s part to dedicate the land as a highway during that period. Intention to dedicate
was discussed in the Godmanchester case, R ( on the application of Godmanchester Town
Council (Apellants) v. Secretary of State for the Environment , Food and Rural Affairs (
Respondent) and one other action R (on the application of Drain) ( Appellant) v. Secretary of
State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs ( Respondent) and other action [2007]
UKHL 28, which is considered the leading authority in this matter. In his leading judgement
Lord Hoffman approved the words of Denning LJ in the Fairey case, 1956: seen at

paragraph 20 of the Godmanchester case:

“...in order for there to be “sufficient evidence there was no intention” to dedicate the way,

there must be evidence of some overt acts on the part of the landowner such as to show the
public at large — the public who use the path...that he had no intention to dedicate. He must
in Lord Blackburn’s words, take steps to disabuse these persons of any belief that there was

a public right...”

In the same case, Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury went further on this point in paragraph 83
of the case:

“...the cogent and clear analysis of Denning LJ in Fairey v Southampton County Council
[1956] 2 QB at 458, quoted by Lord Hoffman, clearly indicated that the intention referred to in
the proviso to section1(1) of the 1923 Act was intended to be a communicated intention.
That analysis was accepted and recorded in textbooks and it was followed and applied in
cases identified by Lord Hoffman by High Court Judges and by the Court of Appeal for the
subsequent forty years. Further, it appears to have been an analysis which was acceptable
to the legislature, given that section (1) of the 1932 Act was re-enacted in section 34(1) of
the Highways Act 1959 and again in section 31(1) of the 1980 Act.”

Lord Hoffman went on the say at paragraph 32:
“I think that upon the true construction of section 31(1), “intention” means what the relevant
audience, namely the users of the way would reasonably have understood the owner’s

intention to be. The test is...objective: not what the owner subjectively intended not what
31

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 63



16.3.

16.4.

particular users of the way subjectively assumed, but whether a reasonable user would have
understood that the owner was intending, as Lord Blackburn put it in Mann v Brodie (1885),

to “disabuse” [him] of the notion that the way was a public highway.”

On 22nd January 2016 Francis Seymour made a deposit under s.31(6) Highways Act 1980
declaring no public footpaths had been dedicated over the land owned by Mary Seymour (
his mother) at that time. A duly made deposit under s.31(6) HA8O is, in the absence of proof
of a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner or his

successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.

It is noted that as part of the correspondence in relation to making the s.31(6) deposit the
solicitor acting on behalf of Francis and Mary Seymour, Venetia Taylor, stated “The plan
attached to the statement shows all the land owned owned by Mrs Seymour edged in red.
The area of particular concern is the western part of the property adjacent to the stream,
where private footpaths converge around the mouth of the stream. | attach to this letter a
hand-drawn sketch provided by Mr Seymour, showing the rough location of the private
footpath he is concerned about.” It appears Ms Taylor was mistaken when stating the
‘western part of the property’ as the path marked by Mrs Seymour is at the eastern end of
the property and matches the claimed route of this application. A copy of the map is
provided below.

32

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 64



16.5.

16.6.

16.7.

16.8.

16.9.

It is evident that by including this additional information Mrs Seymour had some concerns
over the status of this path when selling the property and made the s.31(6) deposit and

declaration to protect against any claims to record this route as public right of way.

The deposit and declaration made on this land only protects its status from the date of the
deposit, in this case 22nd January 2016 and as such does not demonstrate the landowners
lack of intention to dedicate this route before 22nd January 2016. The 20 year period of use

claimed by users from 1996-2016 is not affected by the deposit.

As part of their objections to the application the Seymours provided letters dated 1961 and
1971 which were correspondence between the then West Wilts Water Board and Lady Violet
Seymour. Both of these letters are submitted as evidence which demonstrates Lady Violet
Seymour had an agreement with the Water Board they may use the path but this was by

permission and the path was not a public right of way.

The letter dated 25th April 1961 from West Wilts Water Board to Lady Seymour states
“Thank you for your letter concerning my staff using the footpath to the springs at Luccombe.
The board appreciate the fact that both you and your tenant permitted our staff to use this
footpath, but we quite understand that it is not a right of way. Yours truly J.A.Young Engineer

and Manager”.

The letter dated 12" January 1971 from West Wilts Water Board to Lady Seymour states “/
understand that you have complained to the control centre concerning damage to trees, etc.
on the route of the Board'’s unofficial right of way, which you kindly allow us to use to obtain
access on foot to Luccombe Pumping Station. | have made enquiries and | find that in fact
this route was trimmed by members of our maintenance staff from the Board’s Southern
Area, who were not aware that this was an unofficial right of way. | apologise for this
oversight , which was quite unintentional. The trimmings are being removed from the site
today and | will make certain there is no recurrence of this matter. The board are
appreciative of your allowing them to use this right of way and | am sorry that this action has

happened in error. Yours Sincerely J.A.Young Engineer and manager.”

These letters clearly show that Lady Seymour communicated to the West Wilts Water Board
they may use the path ( although we do not know the exact path they are referring to, we are
assuming it is the path in question) but it was with permission and there was no intention to
dedicate it as a public right of way. What these letters do not demonstrate is the lack of
intention to dedicate the path as public right of way to any more of a wider audience than the

recipients of the letters. Any member of the public or anybody outside of the West Wilts

33

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 65



17.

17.1.

17.2.

18.

18.1.

Water Board using the path would not be aware of these letters and as such they did not
demonstrate the owners’ lack of intention to dedicate or give permission to anyone other
than the Water Board.

Width and Route

The route claimed by the users has been discussed previously in this report and the
confusion as to which parts of the route were being or needed to be claimed. | believe all
users are claiming the same route as described earlier in the report at 13.6. via the 3 stiles
on the route and the now removed bridge.

The width of the path claimed varies. The widths claimed in the user evidence forms vary
from statements such as “ 2-3ft” “2-5ft” “ “1 metre”, “1.5-2m” , “ wide enough for 2 people to
walk side by side”. The path follows a well defined route approximately 2m wide from the
beginning of the path through the ground of Luccombe Mill and narrows when reaching the
defined walkway over the watercress beds area. When exiting onto land owned by Wessex
Water the path again becomes slightly wider again. An approximate width of 2m would be

reasonable to assume.

Common Law Dedication

Section 5 of the Planning Inspectorates Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines
suggest that even where a claim meets the tests under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980

for dedication under statute law, there should be consideration of the matter at common law.

Dedication at common law may be considered where a way has been used by the public for
less than 20 years. Where the origin of a highway is not known, its status at common law

depends on the inference that the way was in fact dedicated at some point in the past.

A highway can be created at common law by a landowner dedicating the land to the public
for use as a highway, either expressly, or in the absence of evidence of actual express
dedication by landowners, through implied dedication, for example making no objection to
overt public use of the way. It also relies upon the public showing their acceptance of the
route by using the way. Whilst the principles of dedication and acceptance remain the same
in both statute and common law, there is a significant difference in the burden of proof, i.e. at
common law the burden of proving the owners intentions remains with the applicant. Whilst it

is acknowledged that dedication of the route as a public highway may have taken place at
34

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 66



common law at some time in the past, it is recognised that in practice evidence of such
dedication is difficult to obtain and it is then more usual to apply Section 31 of the Highways
Act 1980.

18.2. Relatively few highways can be shown to have been expressly dedicated. In this case the
act of installing stiles on the route and making it available from a public highway, i.e. Imber
Road, could be seen as an act of dedication. However it could be argued that these stiles
were put in for the purpose of the Water Board accessing the path and the stiles were for
their use and not dedicating the way to the public. There is a case for dedication at common
law which could be explored further but it will not be relied upon for the decision of this
application at this time.

19. Conclusion

19.1. This application to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Imber Road, Bratton
has attracted a lot of local interest and national interest, with closure of the used route
featuring in a number of different newspapers. 81 users submitted evidence via user forms
claiming to have used the path, others have emailed in support of the application. The
landowner Mr Pelly having bought Luccombe Mill from the Seymour family in 2016 closed
the used path in the knowledge it was not a recorded public right of way on the definitive
map, thus prompting the local population to submit an application to Wiltshire Council to
record the path as a public footpath.

19.2.The main weight of evidence in support of the application comes in the form of the 81 user
forms. Having examined these forms there is a clear and consistent use of the way claimed
dating back many decades and a large amount of use claimed in the 20 year period
considered under section 31 of the Highways Act. This use would have made it clear to the
owners at the time the path was being used by the public in large numbers and a right was
being asserted on their land. As it is clear the way has been used for the relevant 20 year
period the main themes to examine and which were contested in the evidence was whether
the use was * as of right’ and mainly in the themes of signs erected on the path which would
have proved he landowners non-intention to dedicate the way as public and whether the use
of the path was with permission or not. The landowners at the time , the Seymour family,
have submitted evidence to say this use was by permission and they erected notices

informing the users this was a private path and not a public right of way. This in large is
35

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 67



19.3.

20.

21.

22.

23.

denied by the users of the path. In numeric terms 7 people have indicated there were or may
have been signs erected stating the way was private, in contrast there are 80 users stating
they saw no signs at any time saying the way was private. | have asked for any physical
evidence to support the claim signs were erected, none was available. If the way was used *
as of right’ the path must be used without permission. All objectors to this application state
use was by permission and also some users have stated they did have permission to use the
path. Again in numeric terms 16 people have stated use was by permission while 71 have
they did not have permission. It is accepted that some users stated they did and some stated
they did not have permission but it is clear that the landowners’ intention to grant permission

was not brought to the relevant audience.
Having considered all this evidence officers conclude that it can be reasonably alleged that a
right for the public on foot subsists over the land in question and that there is no

incontrovertible evidence that such a right does not exist.

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement

Not required.

Safeqguarding Considerations

Considerations relating to the safeguarding of anyone affected by the making and
confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are
not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed

based on the relevant evidence alone.

Public Health Implications

Considerations relating to the public health implications of the making and confirmation of an
order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not considerations
permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed based on the relevant

evidence alone.

Environmental Impact of the Proposal

36

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 68



24.

25.

26.

26.1.

26.2.

26.3.

Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the making and confirmation of an
order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not considerations
permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed based on the relevant

evidence alone.

Equalities Impact of the Proposal

Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the making and confirmation of an order
under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not considerations
permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed based on the relevant

evidence alone.

Risk Assessment

Considerations relating to the health and safety implications of the making and confirmation
of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, are not
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order must be made and confirmed based

on the relevant evidence alone.

Financial Implications

The determination of definitive map modification order applications and modifying the
definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly, is a statutory duty for the
Council, therefore the costs of processing such orders are borne by the Council. There is no

mechanism by which the Council can re-charge these costs to the applicant.

Where no definitive map modification order is made, the costs to the Council in processing

the definitive map modification order application are minimal.

Where a definitive map modification order is made and objections received which are not
withdrawn, the order falls to be determined by the Secretary of State for Environment, Food
and Rural Affairs (SOSEFRA). An Independent Inspector appointed on behalf of the
SoSEFRA will determine the order by written representations, local hearing or local public
inquiry, which have a financial implication for the Council. If the case is determined by written
representations the financial implication for the Council is negligible, however where a local

hearing is held, the costs to the Council are estimated at £200 - £500 and a public inquiry
37

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 69



27.

28.

28.1.

could cost between £1500 - £3000, if Wiltshire Council supports the order (where legal
representation is required by the Council) and around £200-£500 if it does not support the
order (i.e. where no legal representation is required by the Council as the case is presented
by the applicant). Any decision taken by SoOSEFRA is liable to challenge in the High Court,
the council would bear no financial burden at this stage as the decision has been made by
the SOSEFRA.

Legal Considerations

Where the Surveying Authority determines to refuse to make an order, the applicant may
lodge an appeal with the SOSEFRA, who will consider the evidence and may direct the

Council to make an order.

If an order is made and objections are received, the procedure is as detailed above in
paragraph 25.3.

Options Considered

To:

0] Refuse to make a definitive map modification order, under Section 53 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, where it is considered that there is insufficient
evidence that a right of way for the public on foot subsists of is reasonably
alleged to subsist, on the balance of probabilities, or

(i) Where there is sufficient evidence that a right for the public on foot subsists or is

reasonably alleged to subsist, on the balance of probabilities, the only option
available to the authority is to make a definitive map modification order to add a
footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way, under
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

Section 53(3)(b) requires that on the balance of probability a presumption is raised that the

public have enjoyed a public right of way over the land for a set period of time.

Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 provides that an order should be
made if the Authority discovers evidence, which, when considered with all other relevant
evidence available to them, shows that, on the balance of probabilities, a right of way

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates.

38

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 70



28.2

29.

This section allows for the consideration of common law and the inclusion of historical

evidence and is the more commonly used section.

In considering the evidence under section 53(3)(c)(i) there are two tests which need to be
applied, as set out in the case of R v Secretary of State ex parte Mrs J Norton and Mr R
Bagshaw(1994) 68P & CR 402 (Bagshaw):

Test A: Does a right of way subsist on the balance of probabilities? This requires the
authority to be satisfied that there is clear evidence in favour of public rights and no credible
evidence to the contrary.

Test B: Is it reasonable to allege that on the balance of probabilities a right of way subsists?
If the evidence in support of the claimed paths is finely balanced but there is no
incontrovertible evidence that a right of way cannot be reasonably alleged to subsist, then
the authority should find that a public right of way has been reasonably alleged.

To confirm the Order, a stronger test needs to be applied; that is, essentially that contained

within Test A. In Todd and Bradley v SOSEFRA [2004] EWHC 1450 (Admin). Evans-Lombe J
found that the appropriate test for confirmation is the normal civil burden of proof that such a

way subsists on the balance of probabilities.

Test B is the weaker test and only requires that on the balance of probabilities it is
reasonably alleged that public rights subsist. This allegation may only be defeated at the

order making stage by incontrovertible evidence.

Reasons for Proposal

It is considered that there is sufficient evidence to meet test B as described in the above
paragraph 28.2 that a public right on foot exists over the land in the parish of Bratton on
Imber Road subject of this application. The user evidence supplied demonstrates 20 years of
uninterrupted use of the route in the relevant period. The issues of permission and signage
are disputed by the previous owners of the land , with the weight of evidence in favour of the
users on these subjects the council can only conclude it can be reasonably alleged that
rights exist over this land, if the landowner objects to this decision using the evidence
already considered or any other reasons this case would then have to be brought to a public
inquiry where an inspector would have the opportunity to cross examine the evidence
submitted by all parties. At this stage officers believe test B has been met as there is no

incontrovertible evidence.

39

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 71



30.

Recommendation

That Wiltshire Council makes a definitive map modification order to record a public footpath
over the land at Imber Road in the parish of Bratton subject to this application.

Craig Harlow
Rights of Way Officer
24 May 2017

DECISION REPORT
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 — SECTION 53
APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY — IMBER ROAD BRATTON

Page 72



Appendix A

13 Conle St PARKER
i+ 35 BULLEN

DX 58001 Salisbury

Telephone: 01722 412000 SOLICITORS
Fax: 01722 411822
www.parkerbullen.com

Mr C Harlow ourret:  JO/js/54876-001-1
Rights of Way Warden

Wiltshire Council Your ref:

County Hall

Trowbridge Date: 24 November 2016
BA14 8JN

By post and email: craig.harlow@wiltshire.gov.uk

Dear Mr Harlow,

Section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Application re footpath at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

I enclose statements in opposition to the above application by the following persons:

1. Francis Seymour;
2. James Seymour;
3. Sarah Seymour;
4. Julian Seymour;
5. Gladys Drewett;
6. Tim Goode.

You will see that Julian Seymour’s statement is unsigned. It is approved by him and he tells
me that he has signed and posted it to me. I will forward a copy of the signed version to you
when it arrives.

ason Oliver
Partner

For and on behalf of Parker Bullen LLP

jason.oliver@parkerbullen.com

Parker B i iR . . . .
Soll'ic?(or:l}]{‘:] LI:IL:) isa llmllgd h.nl.uln_\ parinership registered in England and Wales, registered number OC349755, and is authorised and regulated by the
gulation Authority SRA number 535414 Registered office: 45 Castle Street, Salisbury, Wiltshire SP1 3SS

The word » ) ] )
e bore. partner s used to refer to a member of Parker Bullen LLP, or an c nt with equivalent standing and qualifications. A list of
§ 15 open to inspection at our registered office, P) @ é

=} ANDOVER W SALISBURY ®.



Witness: F B Seymour
First Statement

Exhibit: BS1

Date: ZZ November 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF FRANCIS BENEDICT SEYMOUR

I, FRANCIS BENEDICT SEYMOUR, of 61 Boltons Lane, Woking, Surrey, Gu22 8TN WILL
SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1. I'understand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to

the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in

* opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from a

combinatiqn of my own knowledge, information received from various family members

and various relevant documents. The facts stated are true to the best of my knowledge,

information and belief.

2. A paginated bundle. of documents is exhibited to this statement marked ‘FBS1’.

References to documents in that bundle are in the format FBS1/ [page no[s]].

3.I The path in question begins at the entrance to the paddock field off Imber Road. Perhaps
due to the generosity of my family in habitually giving permission for access when this
was sought, people have fonned the mistaken impression that the path is a public right of
way. Indeed, some appear to have formed the view that all of the land on that side of the

lake is public. This is certainly not the case.

4. My family’s involvement with Luccombe Mill goes back over 90 years. My

grandparents, Horace and Violet Seymour, bought Luccombe Mill in 1935. At that time, I

Page 74



am told the house, garden and grounds had been neglected and were all in need of a little:

attention. In following years, order was brought to the chaos. The watercress beds were

no longer being tended and so were left to nature to reclaim them.

. During the Second World War, I understand that the local water board compulsorily
purchased an area at the end of the watercress beds where the springs which feed the lake
are found, in order to secure water provision for the area and Keevil Aerodrome. Until
that point the whole area of land was in single private ownership and there was no reason
for any third parties (let alone the public) to have access from the road to the small area

of land purchased by the water board.

Once the water board owned the land, the springs were capped with brick built structures
and a small pumping station was built close to the end of the watercress beds. In order to
maintain the pumping station, the water board also built an un-marked track back to the

Imber Road, which emerged at the brow of the hill.

_ Luccombe Mill house was used for various purposes (leasing out - to lay and military
tenants) over the years, with a succession of tenants but there was never any general right
of access over the route now claimed or any other route over the land. However, when

permission was sought from my grandparents it would normally be given.

. In about 1961 the ‘water board approached my grandmother and sought permission for
their maintenance teams to gain foot access to the pumping station along the seldom-used
path to the watercress beds. I am not completély sure why they preferred to do this rather
than use their own track, but it may have been something to do with the track being
difficult to use in wet weather. As use of the path was not expected to be a frequent event,
consent was given. As part of this informal agreement, the water board would maintain
and on occasion improve the path in order to enable their employees to safely access the
pumping station. This included building a metal bridge to replace the rather rudimentary
timber one that was in place previously and 2 stiles: one near the road and the other at the

waterboard boundary.

Page 75



10.

11.

12.

In 1971 the water board apologized for cutting the trees on the path to the watercress beds

and accepted that it was an ‘unofﬁcial right of way’. On both occasions, the water board
confirmed that the path was not public and that access was only by permission. True
copies of letters from West Wilts Water Board to my grandmother dated 25 April 1961
and 12 January 1971 are at FBS1/1-2.

In 1973 Luccombe Mill passed to my father, Hugh Seymour, and the family moved there
from Guildford to take up permanent residence. Following my father’s death after a long
illness from cancer, Luccombe Mill passed to my mother, Mary Seymour, and was sold

in 2016 to Henry Pelly. I lived there from about 1974 to early 2015.

It should be noted that at no point were any privaté or public rights of way granted to
anyone. My family agreed to allow various people or organisations (for example, the
village school and the local cub scout pack) to use the path from time to time. Anyone
who used the path lawfully was doing so with permission. Anyone who did not have

permission was trespassing on private land.

In 2000/2001 there was an outbreak of ‘Foot and Mouth’ disease and all the farming land
around Bratton was quarantined. My father was happy for people to use the path so that
they were able to continue walking during this period. Allowing the path to be used
meant that people could do a loop rather than just using the water board track to and from
what is known locally as the watercress beds close to the now disused pumpi‘ng station.
His generosity should not be interpreted as implying that he intended to dedicate the path
as a public right of way. My father was a very community-minded person and was very
active in village life. He was a keen supporter of the local cricket club and regularly
mowed the graveyard at the village E:hl_lrch. However, there was a limit to his gen.erosity
and I am sure that nobody would conéi;ier it to be unreasonable for him to want to protect
his privacy. He did not mind children cycling on the path but drew the line at adults using
mountain bikes on it due to the damage that would be caused. He even put up a sign to

this effect. I recall that he was upset when people picked the daffodils in what was

Page 76



13.

14.

15.

essentially our back garden, and when our family cat was killed there, by the uncontrolled

dogs of people walking on the path.

In normal circumstances, if my father discovered anybody on the land without permission
he would approach them and inform them that the land was private. At various times
signs were placed on the gate at the start of the path stating that it was private land or not
to pick the flowers, but these were often vandalised and taken down. A fence that was
erected to block the path was removed. However, nobody who was familiar with the area

would be in any doubt that it was private land and that the path was not a public right of
way. [

When Luccombe Mill was sold I made (in my capacity as my mother’s attorney) a
statement under section 31(6) Highways Act 1980 that there had been no dedication of
any route over the land as a public right of way. A true copy of the statement is at

FBS1/3-6.

I find it slightly galling that the applicants seek to interpret my father’s community spirit
and his generous easy going nature approach to use of the path by others as an indication
that he intended to dedicate the path as a public right of way. This was never his intention
for the reasons stated above there is no basis for presumed dedication when the use was

with his permission.

Statement of truth

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Francis B¢nedict Seymour

! "Z_November 2016

Page 77



Witness: Hugh James Seyniour
First Statement
Date: 22™ November 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF JAMES SEYMOUR

I, JAMES SEYMOUR, of 67 Eaton Terrace London, SWiW 8§TN WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS:

1,

Iunderstand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to the
definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in
opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from my own

knowledge and are true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.

Luccombe Mill was owned by my grandmother and passed to my father in the 1970s. I
have known it all my life as even before we lived there full time, we regularly visited my
grandparents, It was my family home and my base for working abroad from 1973 until it
was sold to Henry Pelly. I have spent a great deal of time there with my family and latterly

with my ageing parents.

It has always been a special place for my family, and so when we moved there it was the
realisation of a much longed-for desire for us all. My father considered that the house sat
in the middle of a large garden which he tended and treasured in equal measure. The woods
behind the house circle around and meet at the watercress beds. My father was so keen on
trees that not only did he manage the woods on both sides of the lake but also planted many,
many trees throughout the estate, including trees pl anted on the path to the wétercress beds.
We all had trees planted in our names; mine is the beech tree located some 50 yards down
the disputed path, on the right. He considered the garden as a whole and.treasured it as he

had also known it since his parerits bought it when he was a boy. The family has always

Page 78




considered the path as within our garden, he planted the trees, shrubs and bulbs for spring.

It was never his intention that the path be a public footpath and from time to time signs

were put up to remind people that it was private land.

. My family have been a part of the village ever since they arrived. My grandparents gave
the grounds of Bratton House for the village fete to use, my father supported the local
cricket team when it was established and was a regular supporter of the local village band.
He also took his mowers to the church where he helped with the maintenance of the
churchyard. So, it is not that the family did not want to be a part of the village or to keep

eople away, it was just that the garden was my father’s passion and joy.
p J y P Joy

. He was a generous spirited man, but it should be noted that when he didn’t actively stop
every person going down the other side of the garden on the path when he took ownership
in the 1970s the village had a much smaller population. According to the census, the
population in 1971 was 759 and by 2014 had increased to 1,200 people. This will only
grow as more houses are built in the village. The occasional person walking was tolerated,
but in later years it did distress him that there was so little respect for his treasured garden,

with damage caused by cyclists using mountain bikes and fences being taken down.

. 1 feel that as the village is surrounded by some huge open spaces, footpaths by Salisbury
Plain, and a plethora of places to walk that the new owner should be allowed to enjoy his

garden in peace.

Statement of truth

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

James Seymour

22" November 2016

Page 79




Witness: S Seymour
First Statement
Date: ,Z_ZN ovember 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF SARAH SEYMOUR

I, SARAH SEYMOUR, of West Bungalow, Dungeness, Kent, TN29 9NB WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS:
1. I understand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to
the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in
opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from my own

knowledge and are true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.

2. Luccombe Mill was owned by my grandmother and passed to my father in the 1970s. I
have known it all my life as even before we lived there full time, we regularly visited my
grandparents, It was my family home and my base for working abroad from 1973 until it
was sold to Henry Pelly. I have spent a great deal of time there with my family and
latterly with my ageing parents.

3. It has always been a special place for my family, and so when we moved there it was the
realisation of a much longed-for desire for us all. My father considered that the house sat
in the middle of a large garden which he tended and treasured in equal measure, The
woods behind the house circle around and meet at the watercress beds. My father was so
keen on trees that not only did he manage the woods on both sides of the lake but also
planted many, many trees throughout the estate, including trees planted on the path to the
watercress beds. We all had trees planted in our names; mine is the Tulip tree at the end

of the orchard. He considered the garden as a whole and treasured it as he had also known

Page 80



path as within our garden, he planted the trees, shrubs and bulbs for sprifig. It was never

his intention that the path be a public footpath and from time to time signs were put up to

remind people that it was private land.

. My family have been a part of the village ever since they arrived. My grandparents gave
the grounds of Bratton House for the village fete to use, my father supported the local
cricket team when it was established, he was a regular supporter of the local village band.
He also took his mowers to the church where he helped with the maintenance of the
churchyard. So, it is not that the family did not want to be a part of the village or to keep

people away, it was just that the garden was my father’s passion and joy.

. He was a generous spirited man, but it should be noted, that when he didn’t actively stop
every person going down the other side of the garden on the path when he took
ownership in the 1970s the village had a much smaller population. According to the
census, the population in 1971 was 759 and by 2014 had increased to 1,200 people. This
will only grow as more houses are built in the village. The occasional person watking was
tolerated, but in later years it did distress him that there was so little respect for his
treasured garden, with damage caused by cyclists using mountain bikes and fences being

taken down.

. 1 feel that as the village is surrounded by some huge open spaces, footpaths by Salisbury
Plain, and a plethora of places to walk that the new owner should be allowed to enjoy his

garden in peace.

Statement of truth »

1 believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Om/ November 2016

Page 81



Witness: JF Seymour
First Statement

Exhibit: JFS1

Date: 22™ November 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF JULIAN FRANCIS SEYMOUR

I, JULIAN FRANCIS SEYMOUR, of 71 Vespan Road London , W12 9QG WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS: '

1.

I understand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to
the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in
opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from a
combination of my own knowledge, information received from various family members
and various relevant documents. The facts stated are true to the best of my knoWledge,

information and belief.

A paginated bundle of documents is exhibited to this statement marked ‘JFSI1’.

References to documents in that bundle are in the format JFS1/[page no[s]].

The path in question begins at the entrance to the paddock field off Imber Road. Perhaps
due to the generosity of my family in habitually giving permission for access when this
was sought, people have formed the mistaken impression that the path is-a public right of
way. Indeed, some appear to have formed the view that all of the land on that side of the

lake is public. This is certainly not the case.

My family’s involvement with Luccombe Mill goes back over 90 years. My

grandparents, Horace and Violet Seymour, bought Luccombe Mill in 1935. At that time, I

Page 82




am told the house, garden and grounds had been neglected and were all in need of a little

attention. In following years, order was brought to the chaos. The watercress beds were

no longer being tended and so were left to nature to reclaim them.

. During the Second World War, I understand that the local water board compulsorily
purchased an area at the end of the watercress beds where the springs which feed the lake
are found, in order to secure water provision for the area and Keevil Aerodrome. Until
that point the whole area of land was in single private ownership and there was no reason
for any third parties (let alone the public) to have access from the road to the small area

of land purchased by the water board.

. Once the water board owned the land, the springs were capped with brick built structures
and a small pumping station was built close to the end of the watercress beds. In order to
maintain the pumping station, the water board also built an un-marked track back to the

Imber Road, which emerged at the brow of the hill.

. Luccombe Mill house was used for various purposes (leasing out - to lay and military
tenants) over the years, with a succession of tenants but there was never any general right
of access over the route now claimed or any other route over the land. However, when

permission was sought from my grandparents it would normally be given.

. In about 1961 the water board approached my grandmother and sought permission for
their maintenance teams to gain foot access to the pumping station along the seldom-used
path to the watercress beds. I am not completely sure why they preferred to do this rather
than use their own track, but it may have been something to do with the track being
difficult to use in wet weather. As use of the path was not expected to be a frequent event,
consent was given. As pért of this informal agreement, the water board would maintain
and on occasion improve the path in order to enable their employees to safely access the
pumping station. This included building a metal bridge to replace the rather rudimentary
timber one that was in place previously and 2 stiles: one near the road and the other at the

waterboard boundary.

Page 83



9.

10.

11.

12.

In 1971 the water board apologized for cutting the trees on the path to the watercress beds

and accepted that it was an ‘unofficial right of way’. On both occasions, the water board
confirmed that the path was not public and that access was only by permission. True
copies of letters from West Wilts Water Board to my grandmother dated 25 April 1961
and 12 January 1971 are at JFS1/1-2.

In 1973 Luccombe Mill passed to my father, Hugh Seymour, and the family moved there
from Guildford to take up permanent residence. Following my father’s death after a long
illness from cancer, Luccombe Mill passed to my mother, Mary Seymour, and was sold

in 2016 to Henry Pelly. I lived there from about 1974 to early 2015.

It should be noted that at no point were any private or public rights of way granted to
anyone. My family agreed to allow various people or organisations (for example, the
village school and the local cub scout pack) to use the path from time to time. Anyone
who used the path lawfully was doing so with permission. Anyone who did not have

permission was trespassing on private land.

In 2000/2001 there was an outbreak of ‘Foot and Mouth’ disease and all the farming land
around Bratton was quarantined. My father was happy for people to use the path so that
they were able to continue walking during this period. Allowing the path to be used
meant that people could do a loop rather than just using the water board track to and from
what is known locally as the watercress beds close to the now disused pumping station.
His generosity should not be interpreted as implying that he intended to dedicate the path
as a public right of way. My father was a very community-minded person and was very
active in village life. He was a keen supporter of the local cricket club and regularly
mowed the graveyard at the village church. However, there was a limit to his generosity
and I am sure that nobody would consider it to be unreasonable for him to want to protect
his privacy. He did not mind children cycling on the path but drew the line at adults using
mountain bikes on it due to the damage that would be caused. He even put up a sign to

this effect. I recall that he was upset when people picked the daffodils in what was

Page 84



essentially our back garden, and when our family cat was killed there, by the uncontrolled

dogs of people walking on the path.

13. In normal circumstances, if my father discovered anybody on the land without permission
he would approach them and inform them that the land was private. At various times
signs were placed on the gate at the start of the path stating that it was private land or not
to pick the flowers, but these were often vandalised and taken down. A fence that was
erected to block the path was removed. However, nobody who was familiar with the area
would be in any doubt that it was private land and that the path was not a public right of

way.

14. 1 find it slightly galling that the applicants seek to interpret' my father’s community spirit
and his generous easy going approach to use of the path by others as an indication that he
intended to dedicate the path as a public right of way. This was never his intention for the
reasons stated above there is no basis for presumed dedication when the use was with his

permission.

Statement of truth

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

..................................

Julian Francis Seymour

22 November 2016

Page 85



Witness: G Drewett
First Statement
Date: 2_3 November 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF GLADYS DREWETT

I, GLADYS DREWETT, of 17 Lower Road, Bratton, Westbury BA13 4RG, WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS: )
1.. I understand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to
the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in
opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from my own

knowledge and are true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.

2. Ihave lived in Bratton since 1974 and was on the parish council for over 25 years until I
retired in April 2015. My husband, John, is local and has lived in the area all his life. He
. was born in Coulston and lived in Edington before we moved here. We are now both in

our mid-seventies.

3. The path in question begins at the entrance to the paddock field off Imber Road. Perhaps
due to the generosity of the Seymour family in habitually giving permission for access
when this was sought, people have formed the mistaken impression that the path is a
public right of way. Indeed, some appear to have formed the view that all of the land on

that side of the lake is public. This is certainly not the case.

4. The path came into being due to the watercress beds. These were still in use when my

husband was a teenager and he used to help out with the harvest. Before the path was

Page 86



there, the watercress had to be carried or wheeled in barrows across the pasture where

cattle grazed. The cattle were quite fond of the watercress and would help themselves to
it from the baskets, with the result that only about half of it would survive the journey to
the road. The solution was to take it along a route on the other side of the hedge, and it is
this route that became the path. It was never a route that the general public would have

any reason to take.

. I am aware that the water board sought permission from the Seymours for their
maintenance teams to gain foot access to the pumping station along the path to the
watercress beds. As part of this informal agreement, the water board would maintain and
on occasion improve the path in order to enable their employees to safely access the
pumping station. This included building a metal bridge to replace the rather rudimentary
timber one that was in place previously. I think that some people interpreted the
improvements to the path as somehow creating a public right of way, but this was not the

case.

. Although the Seymours were quite relaxed about letting people use the path, they were
clear that the use was with their permission rather than as of right. Over the years I saw
various signs that were put up by the Seymours informing people that the land was
private and that the path was not a public right of way. These signs were always taken
down By others, which is typical of what happens in the village. During my time on the
parish council, we would on occasion put up various signs. Sometimes the signs would
simply inform people of local events. Others may have asked them refrain from a
particular activity, for example to avoid dog fouling or to avoid blocking pushchair
access to other footpaths by parking vehicles inconsiderately. Regardless of the nature of
the signs, they would always be defaced or removed very quickly. I recall on one
occasion my husband put up some notices at about 5 pm one evening and they were gone

by 9 am the following moming.

. I also recall Liz Seymour informing walkers on numerous occasions that the land was

private and that the path was not-a public right of way. I recall that she replaced a metal

Page 87



Popeped

fence with a s#d#d- wooden one in an attempt to block access. This was unsuccessful as
A
somebody used pieces of timber to make a stile to enable people intent on using the path

to climb over the fence.

8. I do not consider that the Seymours’ generosity in allowing people to use the path should
be interpreted as implying that they intended to dedicate the path as a public right of way.

Statement of truth

I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.

Gladys Drewett

A8 November 2016

Page 88




Witness: T Goode
First Statement
Date: 23 November 2016

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF TIM GOODE

I, TIM GOODE, of 7 Melbourne Street, Bratton, Westbury BA13 4RN, WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS:

1. Tunderstand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public footpath to

the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. I make this statement in

opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are made from my own

knowledge and are true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.

2. 1 have worked as a gardener at Luccombe Mill since February 2010, initially for Mr &

Mrs Seymour. Mr Seymour died about six months after 1 started working there and I

carried on working for Mrs Seymour after his death. As she was elderly I did more than

. just gardening as she needed help with other tasks. I would do gardening two days a week
(on Wednesdays and Saturdays) and other jobs as and when required, so I was there quite

often. T continue to look after the grounds for the new owner, Henry Pelly.

3. Although Mrs Seymour was quite relaxed about letting people use the path, she was clear
that the use was with her permission rather than as of right. On her instructions I put up
several signs informing people that the land was private and that the path was not a public
right of way, and others asking them not to allow their dogs to disturb nesting birds. The
signs were always taken down very quickly - I assume by people who did not accept that

the path was not a public right of way.

Page 89



4. T would often challenge people who walked on the path and informed them that it was

private land. I spoke to several individual walkers, various people on mountain bikes and
on one occasion a group of 30 or so ramblers. There should not have been any doubt in

the mind of anyone who knew the area that the path was not a public right of way.

5 Tdo not consider that the Seymours’ generosity in allowing people to use the path should

be interpreted as implying that they intended to dedicate the path as a public right of way.

Statement of truth

I believe that the fact ted in this witness statement are true.

23 November 2016

Page 90



5

Gy TNk oM

Jnin A prit

Lt -
LSUTET

DIPYSIILAL
UALSNIIN UV

“Iusuusl pue Jasulaoud
*ONNOA Y °p

o
.ﬁ.au SJNOo A .

8 sk o8 o

Ll A o) .wim.).ﬂ." Bogod 8T 30 SENd oWl sLsdu
3mg ‘Uzediool STl asn 93 JARIS 400 PR TWIAd jJue
L 3 oq 3RY3 199 oyl 23eproodadds ¥ |

* SR O] 1
JiE1s A& Zunaaiiun o ded
* Sai QLT DT
S INOEASE ADGTT a1Vl
- ﬂjﬁmﬂ & ﬂ. e | uvml.d,\“.” &C,.U.m i & S UEEY N

Sy ano g

FIASTWTY '3

‘PROY wieyaIesy ‘dg s Ped LA LD Soar ar)

L3

A¥VOd Y3ILVAM SLITIAM 1S3IAA

. - - - oy
3 SO O i e P e T B

Page 91

g Xipuaddy




S5¥d ¢ PRI OGO ISVE

W QEEMEAH ) LSS HHLONTIVEYM "SHONATEES

SLITIM "HILSNIWHY M 'AYOd WEYHIHTOT 'I€ 7 R e A B BT M B

qyvod d43LYM SLTIM LSam

R R e N R S ST T I e i i G NS TN, SRR A U i . 5 wou il

Page 92



Appendix 2

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981

THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT FOR THE WARMINSTER AND
WESTBURY RURAL DISTRICT COUNCIL AREA DATED 1953

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL (PARISH OF BRATTON) PATH NO.42 AND THE
(PARISH OF EDINGTON) PATH NO.36 DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT
MODIFICATION ORDER 2017

This Order is made by Wiltshire Council under section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (“the Act”) because it appears to that authority that the
Warminster and Westbury Rural District Council Area definitive map and statement
dated 1953 require modification in consequence of the occurrence of an event
specified in section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Act, namely the discovery by the authority of
evidence which (when considered with all other relevant evidence available to them)
shows:-

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to
which the map relates, being a right of way such that the land over
which the right subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or, subject
to section 54A, a byway open to all traffic.

The authority have consulted with every local authority whose area includes the land
to which the order relates. The Wiltshire Council hereby order that:

- For the purposes of this order the relevant date is 4™ July 2017.

2. The Warminster and Westbury Rural District Council Area definitive map and
statement dated 1953 shall be modified as described in Part | and Part Il of
the Schedule and shown on the map attached to the Order.

3. This Order shall take effect on the date it is confirmed and may be cited as the
Wiltshire Council (Parish of Bratton) Path no.42 and the (Parish of Edington)
Path no.36 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2017.

THE COMMON SEAL OF
THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL
was hereunto affixed this
4" of July 2017

in the presence of:

}
}
}
}




SCHEDULE
PART I
Modification of Definitive Map
Description of path or way to be added

That length of footpath as shown by a broken black line with short intervals on the
attached plan, leading from point A at OS Grid Reference ST 9205-5204, at its
junction with Imber Road, in an east-north-easterly direction for approximately 165
metres where the path crosses onto a raised walkway over the watercourse to the
Edington/Bratton parish boundary at OS Grid Reference ST 9223-5205. At the end
of the raised walkway the path then turns in a southerly direction following a well-
defined track crossing back over the Edington/Bratton parish boundary at OS Gird
Reference ST 9230-5200. Continuing in a broadly southerly direction to OS Grid
Reference ST 9229-5179 where the path turns in a broadly north westerly direction
uphill for approximately 94 metres to its junction with Imber Road, at point B, at OS
Grid Reference ST 9222-5184.

PART I
Modification of Definitive Statement
Variation of particulars of path or way

Parish Path No. Modified Statement to read:- Modified

specified

Bratton 42 From OS Grid Reference ST 9205-5204 53(3)(c)(i)
at its junction with Imber Road, Bratton
leading in an east-north-easterly direction
for approximately 165 metres where the
path crosses onto a raised walkway
across the waterbed to the Edington
parish boundary at ST 9225-5204. At
ST 9230-5200 the path re-enters
the parish of Bratton continuing in a southerly
direction on a well-defined track to
ST 9229-5179 where the path turns in a
north westerly direction uphill to Imber Road
at ST 9222-5184.

Approximate length — 503 Metres

Page 94



Edington

36

Width- 1.5 metres for length of path except the
section over the raised walkway leading to the

Edington Parish boundary which has a width of
1 metre.

At OS Grid Reference ST 9225-5204 the path

continues across the raised walkway

at ST 9230-5202 the path turns in a broadly southerly direction
to the Bratton Parish boundary at ST 9230-5200.

Approximate length — 108 metres
Width — 1 metre over raised walkway,1.5 metres otherwise.

Page 95

53(3)(c)(i)



Wiltshire

e Where L\.‘U\bO(h rmllers

392000

. . Date: 03/07/2017
ncil The Wiitshire Council (Parish of Bratton and Edington)

Path no. 42 (Bratton) and Path no. 36 ( Edington)
Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2017

3921

152200 BLLE

152100 7

SLOGHY

Key

Luccombe Mil

0 151900 570 152000

151800

151700 >

| | |
1 [
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100049050
Pana OA | | St

The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Bratton and Edington)
Path no. 42 (Bratton) and Path no. 36 ( Edington)

Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2017

Length of footpath to be added: A------ B

© Crown Copyright and Database Rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100049050
Tracy Carter — Associate Director Waste and Environment

Prepared by: CPH Date: 3 July 2017 Scale 1: 2,500 Grid Ref: ST 920-520

Wiltshire Council

= Where everybody matters

392000

392100 o uﬂ"’ Y'Y 392200 392300



Appendix 3

The Old Rectory
Dark Lane

Diss

Norfolk

P21 4EY

Rights of Way & Countryside Team
Wiltshire County Council

Unit 9

Ascot Park

White Horse Business Park
Trowbridge

BA14 OXA

8.8.17
Ref CH /2016/08
Dear Mr Harlow

I am writing in relation to the proposed addition of a public footpath in the garden of
Luccombe Mill, Bratton.

When my father, Hugh Seymour, was alive and owned the house he allowed people from
the village to walk through our garden, through watercress beds to the spring at the
bottom. He did this because in those days the village was much smaller and it was a case
of everyone knowing everyone else. The village has vastly increased in population over
the years and the damage caused by walkers had also increased. The daffodils were
picked and trampled, trees that he had planted as a child were ringed, people rode bikes
damaging the path. In addition the family’s privacy was invaded.

My father’s chainsaw, with which he was working in the woods, was stolen when he left it
to have a break. It is worth noting that the maintenance of the woods through which the
footpath goes needs to be constantly worked on.

People took liberties and there were a couple of occasions when picnics were had directly
opposite the house. There were times when people with binoculars watched our family
going about our business. When they were asked not to, the response was usually rude.
Someone’s dog, off its lead, killed our cat when we were children. On one occasion people
actually brought boats and rowed on the lake.

There is also a security issue for the house owners. There was a time when the
greenhouse at the bottom of the garden was found full of empty alcohol bottles and cans
when people had clearly climbed the gate at the end and come into the greenhouse to
drink at night.

I Understand that there is a plan to build a further 40 houses in Bratton increasing the
possible footfall of unknown people through the garden.

Bratton is in an enviable position with many walks and beautiful countryside around. There
is absolutely no need for this path to be open to the public. The spring that people like to
walk to can easily be reached through the Water Board land further along Imber Rd.

Page 97



| find it very surprising that it could be considered acceptable to invade people’s privacy in
this way. The fact that an article appeared in a national newspaper about the current
owners just goes to illustrate this. Their privacy has already been invaded and it is unlikely
that this will not lead on to further incursions.

I'm sure you will agree that people should be allowed the choice of being in their own
gardens without being stared at, commented on or noticed in any way.

Yours sincerely
Charlotte King (nee Seymour)

Page 98



Appendix 3

WESt BUnga|0W
DUngEness ROAD
Dungeness

Ref: CH2016/08 TN2g gNB

4" August 2017

Re: Objection to the designation of a new publijc footpath in the arden of Luccombe Mill, Bratton.
0

Dear Mr Harlow

Thank you for your letter informing me that there has been a map modification order on the above
land.

It states that the path is approximately 165 meters, plus the section of the watercress beds up until
the Water Board land. So approximately 200 meters of path is under discussion for the new owners
of Luccombe Mill.

The point | would like to make, is that the proposed path is within the garden of Luccombe Mill, my
grandfather and in particular my father, who owned the property up until very recently, put much
time into planting and tending the trees, planting spring bulbs and keeping it as he loved it. It is an
integral part of the garden; a private garden. My father loved Bratton and supported many of the
parts of village life (please refer to my previous statement) but he would never have wanted to make
the path a public right of way. Many people asked him for permission to walk there, particularly in
times such as the foot & mouth outbreak, when access to much land was restricted, and he would
give it. But it was always a part of our garden.

If you look at maps of Bratton and the countryside in which it sits, the people of Bratton have huge
swathes of beautiful, open countryside in which to walk. There are many public footpaths in Bratton
(please see attached map), and along the side of Salisbury Plain. Bratton is not situated in an urban
area where 200 meters of track will make all the difference for people’s ability to get out and walk
and enjoy the countryside.

The Waterboard has stated that they are neutral on this matter, so they could allow access to the
water overflow pond that some have stated is 50 important to them (from B to the pond on the map
that came with your letter)

| have seen a statement from one of the protestors that refers to a “David and Goliath” situation and
that by doing this action they have won against great adversaries, | would suggest that this is actually
an owner of a garden who would like to enjoy his own garden in peace and quiet.

Best regards

Sarah Seymour

Formerly living at Luccombe Mill, Bratton.

Page 99



Footpath Maps: free online ordnance survey map and public footpath finder UK

8/4/2017
g : w 3 e A = Al | IS e T Py il L= -t
2 3 Vo ,\/,_F\ —\ f]Crasswall | 1|8 .nn_wn.... / ) \ . ..m_.ﬁ.,.vm”oc_mao: fon P
500 m S 7 w73 N DownFm | || hey Ml Fih / { ] \ WP et/
ol <ge oy S z - . yh .%%x. | gy, SR T17, v P

TR s S

Hawkaridge an)
.\m.,._._. m‘. \.ou. |

| \V . =7
Heywo0d ¢ g Bridgs
_- Heywobd Ho Qﬂ.ﬁ
—_r 4 A =
ST Y ¢
‘“, d|ﬂ.l \.\m\ﬂ\sl. {

ok

[~ o e 3
O Sroke HIl &L 4
Fon il

.\...\, Eanpe b 41605 % e i !
Aw.mi..ééc.mm’ SobeBanren ==\ SSRGS e G h 1 e
White Ioum.b_.a g 7 A .S___?rm,n_.ﬁ Nt qm:.wm{ ‘ "“_\_

AN Eene P

Barn Bottom

o L

- ﬂ#. fm,.od:&m:s ! "
ot =T umutus § 223 -

,_/,, _xMwiwn > _ Lumulus b " o
WF =R . 4 &
£r

niah T kT il - W VLA - =
el - | " jom—_. A -’ Brouncker's
] A%, ol - = o g C 2 Fon #
ety - " Danger | SR P Cumutus| {3 . Down o°qy “
i e Ir = oy, PR o Y & <P
| Warden's D 7 S S L S O & Q0
~“Warden’'s Down - o “aabal AN o Che
o w.— s e A wao:mﬂ:‘ LA e Coulston % by
T ) Down = e = o W
<% e " sy MeO ™ . pL -
s | T o ~ns ~y fauncke = ¥ ¢
o Q-J Dh«...‘ wN 1 i
% P ‘ > ;._.\u... . gy =
s

T B e B la N~ 7 | Ul

- ] . L] <, I
~= . W U, o3
h:\\ Ta EEa s 2 e 3
q : 2

hirtesn Hu
5 Dawn

o E e acll),

alford

J
% Y
P A & 211 * pé ¥ - .
.._____mQ_u..OU.m,u... i L o N Y P P k mf %
; i o an T i e ny o
Fm b1 Earthmork o Ll P e = | WEly e
/ : K oo o B A v F=- i s T
I’ : & &.90 .} D W -+ Wadman's Earthrborks )3 J.,.-.w,.nu...w.n..rl_ <
Uptory Cow o & I o) .  Coppice LR B S
Dawn 1 99 47@ OO 3 A .D\— > '} ] J/..:f
e | R oS by . i :
S hv@. O ..‘\ .\_. il =37
Tewulys i 5 d I W
. % I c I T
: E ¥ T'nmute H i . &
WeTsDirtley =7 & b AoasSE 3
Wopd” .h..,.,, - QQM. .._... o pommEEET =R Tumaloe .
/\\ 3 Zumulus o i PP = 162
£ b W ) x.v....\. -
Warrinster Jown s e ey
o s, Egrthmotk u o 3 Tunrulics 47

DANGER| AREA

| o A D H T ;
. La02 e \._.r_ S b.w T South Down
i Rk B RfE . s ¥ A % Sieight
© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey. Terms of Use "=

http://footpathmaps.com/# 1/



": . ‘ S ';
\hfmh.nnu

]

pres

¥

=
]
1
”

=




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



Appendix 3

IN THE MATTER OF
AN ORDER TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT

AT IMBER ROAD, BRATTON, WILTSHIRE

SUMMARY GROUNDS OF OBJECTION OF MR HENRY PELLY

1. These are the summary grounds of Mr Henry Pelly’s objection to an Order adding a

footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement, which begins and terminates on Imber

Road, Bratton.

A. SUMMARY BACKGROUND

2. An application was made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (the
“1981 Act”) to add a footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement in the Parish of

Bratton, leading from Imber Road through the grounds of Luccombe Mill in a generally

easterly direction before turning in a southerly direction through Wessex Water owned

land and reconnecting to Imber Road (the “Application” and “Order Route”).

3. Further to a Decision Report dated 24 May 2017, Wiltshire Council (the “Council”)

concluded that it could reasonably be alleged that a right for the public on foot subsists

over the Land and that there is no incontrovertible evidence that such a right does not

exist.

4. The Council made a Definitive Map Modification Order to add a footpath to the

Definitive Map and Statement, which was sealed and advertised on 14 July 2017 (the

“Order”).

5. The 42 day period for representations expires on 25 August 2017, at Spm.

6. Mr Henry Pelly is the owner of Luccombe Mill, Imber Road, and Bratton, Wiltshire,

BA13 4SH (the “Landowner” and “Land” respectively).

Page 103



10.

By email dated 11 August 2017, the Landowner communicated his wish to object to the

Order, which was acknowledged by the Council’s Rights of Way officer by email of the

same date.

THE RELEVANT TESTS

Four criteria must be satisfied if the Application Route is to be presumed to have been

dedicated as a highway under section 31(1) of the 1980 Act:

a. There must be a “way over any land” which is not of such a character that public

use cannot give rise to a common law presumption of dedication; .

b. It musthave been actually enjoyed by the public “as of right”;
c. It must have been used “without interruption”; and

d. It must have been used “for 20 years” counting backwards from a relevant event

bringing into question the claimed public right of way.

If any of the key characteristics of a highway, or any of the section 31 criteria, are not
satisfied in relation to the Application Route then the Application must be dismissed and
the Order not confirmed.

SUMMARY GROUNDS OF OBJECTION ‘

The Landowner objects to the Order for the following summary reasons:

a. The lack of documentary evidence to support the Order Route’s existence as a

public right of way. This is not in dispute.

b. The route was not “actually used” throughout the 20 year period so as to bring

home to the landowners that a right was being asserted against them.

Page 104



c. Use of the Order Route was not ‘as of right’ throughout the 20 year period or any

part of it.

d. Use of the Order Route was not, throughout the period, “without interruption”

as required by section 31(1).

11. Therefore, it is not accepted that the evidence demonstrates that, on the balance of
probabilities, a footpath exists. In particular, there is insufficient evidence to
demonstrate that the purported right of way has been used by the public “as of right” and

without interruption for a full period of 20 years.

12. The Landowner will therefore submit that the Order ought not to be confirmed as the

public right of way in question has not lawfully been shown to exist.

Use of the Order Route not “as of right’

13. The term “as of right’ requires such use to be without force, without secrecy and without

permission.

14. In the present instance, the evidence demonstrates that relevant landowners have at

various times taken steps effective to confer permission to use the Order Route.

15. Further to the above, there is evidence that use of the Order Route over the Land was, at

various times, contentious or by force and so not as of right for that reason.

D. CONCLUSION

16. For at least the above reasons, which will be explored before the Inspector, the

Landowner will in due course invite the Inspector to decline to confirm the Order with

respect to the Order Route.

25t August 2017

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



Appendix 4 Witness: Wilfred Robert Colston
First Statement
Date: _ June 2017

In the matter of an application under section 53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an
Order to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill Bratton

WITNESS STATEMENT OF Wilfred Robert Colston

| Wilfred Robert Colston, of 4 Holme Lane, Bratton, Westbury BAI3 4TF, WILL SAY AS
FOLLOWS:

1. lunderstand that an application has been made for an Order to add a public
footpath to the definitive map and statement at Luccombe Mill, Bratton. | make this
statement in opposition to that application. The facts stated in this statement are
made from my own knowledge and are true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief.

2. | worked for Hugh Seymour from 1991 to 1998 as his gardener until ill health
forced me to retire.

3. During my time at Luccombe Mill, on numerous occasions | spoke with walkers
reminding them they were walking in someone’s garden and requesting them not
to pick the spring flowers | had planted and to control their dogs from chasing birds
by the lake.

4. Over the course of time, with so many notices posted and information given to
walkers, both by the owner and myself as gardener, | cannot see how anyone with
a sense of responsibility could have interpreted this as making the footpath public.

5. Ifind it hard to believe that a villager knowing the Seymour family with gratitude
and courtesy for walks they have enjoyed would now take this action.

Wilfred Robert Colston
Page 107

June 2017.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



Appendix 4

Richard and Rosemarie Gale _

RE: Luccombe Mill - Footpath
8 Jun 2017, 15:10:04

Henry Pelly |

Witness: R W Gale

First Statement — June 2017

In the matter of an Application Section 53 Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981
for the Order to add a footpath to the definitive map statement on Luccombe Mill Bratton

I Richard William Gale of Reeves Farm Bratton Westbury BA13 4SA will say as follows:

1)

6)

I understand that an application has been made for an order to add a public footpath to
the definitive map and a statement at Luccumbe Mill — Bratton . The facts in this
statement are made from my own knowledge and belief.

My parents moved to Bratton in 1942 having gained the tenancy of Reeves Farm. I
was born here 1948 and lived here all my life. I returned from school and agricultural
college to join the family business.

My father initially rented the Luccombe Mill Paddock In the late 90s I took over and
subsequently to my son Matthew this past year.

To my knowledge the path in question was established to allow access to the water
cress beds

In the 1940s the then Water Board installed a pumping station at Luccombe Springs to
supply water to the nearby Keevil Airfield as part of the War effort.

I now for a fact the permitted path to the Luccombe Pumping Station was only
granted with the goodwill of the Seymour family as an easy access for the Water
Board engineers only.

I believe this witness statement is a true record of the Permitted Path leading to the
Luccombe Pumping Station and former Water Cress beds.

Richard William Gale
June 2017

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 110



Appendix 5

STATEMENT MADE BY FRANK COMPTON

Picquet View Imber Rd Bratton BA13 4SH

1

Regarding the closure of the footpath known as the Watercress Walk
Reference; DMMO 2016/8 Luccombe Mill

| have known and used the Watercress Walk since April 2000 when we moved into the
village. From around 2006 till it was summarily closed | have voluntarily maintained the path
with support from the Seymour family. | had tacit support from visiting family whom | met on
several occasions on the path whilst maintaining it. | had specific support from Mrs Seymour
who expressed her satisfaction that with the path well maintained most people stayed on it
and did not wander off it over the plants and shrubs in the bank between the path and lake.

The only time any restriction was placed on the path was when Mrs Seymour asked us to
place signs asking people not to ride bikes on the path as it damaged the path for walkers
very quickly. Later Tim Goode (Ground maintenance contractor) provided more permanent
signs to stop bikes using the path.

During my days maintaining the path | met not only the Seymour family on occasion but also
the many regular local users most of whom explained that they and their families had used
the path for generations. The elderly mainly used the Watercress Walk to the spring at the
far end then returned along the same route as the path continuing over Wessex Water land
includes a steep incline leading back up to Imber Road.

Typical comment from a villager; | & FAMILY, HAVE USED IT FOR OVER 50 YEARS SO IT HAS BEEN USED & THE WATER
CRESS LADIES.BEFORE THAT

During my time maintaining the route | have also met people who have long since left the
village and returned with grandchildren to show them where they spent their youth.

When the Mill House was placed on the market | met an agent on the path preparing map
details of the property and its boundaries. | offered some assistance describing the footpaths
and eventually the map showing the property boundary and footpath was placed on the
styles at each end of the Watercress Walk. There was no response to the map from me or
the villagers as it made no reference to any change to the status of the footpath alongside
the lake within the property boundary.

| hope this helps clarify the situation regarding long standing unhindered access to the
Watercress Walk — clearly for the local villagers and my family a valuable established village
asset.

Maj (Retd) Frank Compton MBE
12 Oct 2017

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 112



Appendix 5

Mulberry House, The Butts, Bratton, BA13 4SW

Craig Harlow,

Rights of Way Case Officer
Rights of Way Team

Ascot Court

White Horse Business Park
Trowbridge

Wiltshire BA14 OXA

13th October 2017

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN
ef DMM L Mill

As aresident of the village of Bratton for 35 years, I would like to make a
statement in support of the footpath at Luccombe Mill being designated a
right of way.

During the time I have lived in the village, I and my family have used this
path regularly and there have at no time been any notices or restriction of
access until September 2016 after the house was sold. Only once, to my
knowledge, have there been any notices and that was one requesting
walkers to put their dogs on leads because of ducks sitting on nests.

I know Lady Seymour reasonably well and often met her on my walks.
She appeared to welcome the accessibility of the path to the general public
and never gave any indication to the contrary.

To my knowledge the path and surrounding woodland has never been
abused by those members of the public using it.

Penelope Fairclough

cc Philip Workman

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 114



Agenda Item 8a

REPORT FOR WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.

Date of Meeting 15 November 2017

Application Number | 17/06276/FUL

Site Address Trowle House, Trowbridge Road, Wingfield BA14 9LE

Proposal Change of use of Trowle House from a private dwelling
(Class C3) to a mixed use comprising a private dwelling, a
bed and breakfast establishment and a venue for small
business, social and community events (no physical
alterations proposed).

Applicant Mr J Smith and Ms C Braunbarth

Town/Parish Council | WINGFIELD

Electoral Division WINSLEY AND WESTWOOD - Councillor J. Kidney

Grid Ref 382445 157467

Type of application Full Planning

Case Officer Steven Sims

Reason for the application being considered by Committee

Councillor Kidney has requested that if officers are minded to approve the application,

it should be reported to the Planning Committee for the consideration of the following:

e The relationship to adjoining properties

e The impact on the amenity of adjacent residents

e Wingfield Parish Council has raised strong objections to the proposal

e Concerns have also been raised relating to alterations to the listed building, which
are not addressed in the application

1. Purpose of Report

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of
the development plan and other material considerations and to consider the
recommendation that the application be approved.

2. Report Summary

The main issues to consider are:

¢ Principle of development

Impact on the setting of the listed building

Impact on the Green Belt

Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring residents
Impact on the character of the area

Highway safety/parking issues

Page 115



3. Site Description

Trowle House and grounds

4. Planning History
W/77/00717/HIS

W/81/00996/HIS
W/81/01363/HIS
W/83/00427/LBC

W/83/00336/FUL
W/83/00671/FUL
W/83/00694/LBC

5. The Proposal

RV Trowle House is a three storey
Grade Il listed building located
outside any settlement boundary
and within extensive grounds (1.8
hectares). Trowle House Cottage,
a grade Il listed building lies
directly to the north of Trowle
House while Bramley Cottage (not
listed) lies directly the northwest.
Both of these properties lie within
the application site boundary and
are in residential use. Access to
the site is via a private drive off the
A366 and the site is within the
West Wiltshire Green Belt. The site
is screened by trees to the north,
south and west. The village of
Wingfield is located approximately
670 metres to the south. A public
footpath (Wing22) runs along the
site’s eastern boundary.

Change of use to consulting room and auxiliary facilities —
Approved 07/10/1977
Dwellinghouse — withdrawn application 20/10/1981

Conversion of coalhouse to dwelling- Approved 19/01/1982

Demolition of west wall of coal house and reconstruction of
roof — withdrawn application 05/07/1983
Conversion of outbuilding to dwelling — Refused 03/05/1983

Conversion of outbuilding to dwelling — Approved 02/08/1983

Alterations and increase in height of roof — Approved
02/08/1983

This is a full application seeking permission to change the use of Trowle House from a
private dwelling (Class C3) to a mixed use comprising a private dwelling, a bed and
breakfast establishment and a venue for small business, social and community events.
The events would be held in the main building, known as Trowle House. Trowle House
Cottage would remain in residential occupation via an assured tenancy agreement
whilst Bramley Cottage would be occupied by the applicant’s family or manager of the
bed and breakfast. Of the 11 bedrooms in the main dwelling, 9 would be used for bed
and breakfast purposes. The number of proposed events would be limited to 25 or
less per calendar year and the number of attendees would be limited to 25 or less per

Page 116



event. Events would not extend past 6pm or involve amplified music. No alterations to
the listed building are proposed.

6. Local Planning Policy

Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) Core Policy 40: Hotels, Bed & Breakfasts, Guest
Houses and Conference Facilities; Core Policy 57: Ensuring High Quality Design and
Place Shaping; Core Policy 58: Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment
Core Policy 60: Sustainable Transport; Core Policy 61: Transport and Development;
Core Policy 64: Demand Management

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) - especially Section 4 - Promoting
sustainable transport; Section 7 - Requiring Good Design; and Section 12 -
Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026

7. Summary of consultation responses

Wingfield Parish Council: Objects arguing that: ‘The proposed development would
result in a significant and in an unacceptable loss of amenity for neighbouring
properties especially in respect of noise, disturbance, loss of privacy and nuisance.
Trowle House is a Grade 2 Listed Building and this application does involve
development of, and structural alterations to, this building yet there is no
accompanying Listed Building Consent application.’

Following the submission of an amended scheme with reduced number of events with
no evening events, the Parish Council remained concerned that: ‘The proposed
development would result in a significant and in an unacceptable loss of amenity for
neighbouring properties especially in respect of noise, disturbance, loss of privacy and
nuisance [and again reported that] Trowle House is a Grade 2 Listed Building and this
application does involve development of, and structural alterations to, this building yet
there is no accompanying Listed Building Consent application.

Highways Officer: No objections subject to conditions.

Public Protection Team: No objection to the amended scheme subject to conditions.

8. Publicity

The application was publicised via site notices and posted notification letters sent to

17 neighbouring/properties within close proximity of the site. As a result of the

publicity, 16 letters of objection were received raising the following concerns:

e A bed and breakfast use would result in additional disturbance outside normal
business hours

¢ Increased noise and disturbance — loss of privacy to local residents

e Traffic issues and lack of sustainability and lack of parking on site

e Adverse impact upon the living conditions of residents of Trowle House Cottage in
terms of noise and light pollution, loss of privacy and security issues

e Drainage issues

e Waste storage issues

e Laneisin a poor state of repair (Loves Lane)

Page 117



e Adverse impact on listed building
e Increased vermin due to events catering
e Issuing of alcohol licensing

Following the re-consultation exercise after receipt of amended plans (which reduced
the no. of events to 25 events per year with time limits), 5 letters of objection were
received raising the following concerns:

e Highway safety issues

e Drainage issues

e Congestion along Loves Lane

e Increased noise/disturbance and smells from events

e Storage/disposal of waste concerns

9. Planning Considerations

9.1 Principle of Development - Core Policy 40 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy states
that proposals for new bed and breakfasts or conference facilities will be supported
‘outside settlement limits where; the conservation of buildings that for contextual,
architectural or historic reasons should be retained and otherwise would not be’. The
policy leads on to require that proposals falling under Policy 40 should ‘not have a
detrimental impact on the vitality of the town centre; and should avoid unacceptable
traffic generation’.

Trowle House is located approximately 670 metres north of the village of Wingfield
(which is a designated Small Village without a boundary). The subject property is
located in the open countryside and Green Belt and has an existing access via the
A366 and Frome Road. Although detached from the village, the site is located
relatively close to Wingfield. In terms of appreciating and appraising Green Belt policy
implications, the proposed development would convert the existing dwelling with no
external alterations being proposed and as a consequence, there would be no
discernible harmful impacts on the Green Belt or the wider countryside.

The projected income generated from the bed & breakfast use and events would aid in
the ongoing maintenance of the building and extensive grounds and assist in financing
the initial restoration and conversion of the property. It is argued that a property the
size of Trowle House is unlikely to be purchased solely for residential occupation,
especially given the costs associated in restoring and maintaining the building. The
proposed commercial conversion use is considered policy compliant and would bring
about some economic regeneration locally. The development would not have a
detrimental impact on the vitality of Bradford on Avon town centre or result in an
unacceptable level of traffic congestion, as confirmed by the Council’s Highway officer.
As such the proposed commercial use would aid in the conservation of this historic
building and the proposed development therefore complies with Core Policy 40 of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy.

9.2 Impact on the listed building (heritage asset) - Section 16 of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering any application
affecting a listed building, the local planning authority [or the Secretary of State] shall
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. Section 66 of

Page 118



the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires ‘special
regard’ to be given to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting. The
NPPF advises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph 132 of the
Framework furthermore states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should
be given to the asset’s conservation. Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy
echoes the above national policy in seeking the protection, conservation and, where
possible, the enhancement of heritage assets.

Under this application, the applicant does not propose any physical alteration to the
listed building, so no listed building consent application is required. There would
therefore be no harm to the heritage asset. Within the setting of the listed building, the
Council’'s highway officer recommends that if planning permission is to be granted, the
applicant should improve visibility along the A366 for safer egress and to provide a
passing point. However it is considered that these alterations could be achieved
without causing any harm to the setting of the listed building.

The proposed development would therefore comply with Core Policy 58 of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy and the NPPF.

9.3 Impact on the Green Belt - The site is located within the West Wiltshire Green Belt.
Paragraph 90 of the NPPF sates that certain forms of development are not
inappropriate in Green Belt provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt
and do not conflict with the purposes of including land in Green Belt. These include,
amongst others, the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent
and substantial construction.

The development involves the re-use of a building which is of permanent and
substantial construction, with no external alterations being proposed. The
development would therefore preserve the openness of the Green Belt and purposes
of including land in the Green Belt. The change of use proposal would fall under one
of the exceptions listed in paragraph 90 of the NPPF and would not represent
‘inappropriate development’ in the Green Belt.

9.4 Impact on the living conditions of neighbouring residents - Core Policy 57 of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy requires a high standard of design for all new development
and that development should have regard to the compatibility of adjoining buildings
and uses; and avoid harmful impacts through the loss of privacy, amenity,
overshadowing and pollution (e.g. light Intrusion and noise).

The development is for a change of use to a mixed use comprising ‘a private dwelling,
a bed and breakfast establishment and a venue for small business, social and
community events’. A maximum of 9 of the existing 11 bedroom would be used for bed
and breakfast purposes. In addition the scheme would make provision for the hosting
of up to 25 events in any calendar year. These events would have a maximum of 25
people attending and would not operate beyond 6pm or be held on a Sunday. It has
also been confirmed/proposed that no amplified music would be played at these
events.

Page 119



Before it ceased operation in 2016, Trowle House was used as a chiropractic and
physiotherapy clinic in addition to its residential use. The clinic generated up to 45
vehicle movements per day with the vast majority of trips taking place mainly during
office ‘working’ hours.

Trowle House Cottage is located within the grounds of the property approximately 15
metres to the northeast of the main dwelling (and is illustrated on the plan insert
below). The main car parking for Trowle House lies directly to the east of this property
where it is proposed to park vehicles in relation to the B&B use and the events use.
The events use would take place only during the day, and whilst this might lead to
some disruption to the occupiers of Trowle House Cottage, any disruption would be
limited in extent and would unlikely exceed the previous circumstances which
prevailed when the property was used as a dwellinghouse and clinic. The property and
its curtilage can accommodate the proposed conversion and parking requirements.
The insert plan below sets out the potential for breaking up the parking provision to
avoid a large car park and sympathetically integrate the parking in smaller groups on
site.

I
o

— 7, — 6 Spaces

——>5 Spaces

3 Spaces

— Spaces

The nearest residential properties to the site, excluding ‘Trowle House Cottage’, are
found at ‘Trowle House Bungalow’ approximately 40 metres to the north, No.14 Loves
Lane located approximately 85 metres to the south and ‘The Park’, No.19 Loves Lane

Page 120



located approximately 80 metres to the west. There is significant screening of the site
by trees to the north, south and in particular to the west separating properties fronting
Loves Lane from the access drive to Trowle House. The site photograph below
illustrates the two outbuildings (Bramley Cottage and Trowle House Cottage) which fall
within the same ownership of the subject property and are located behind and to the
west/north-west of the property that is the subject of this application. The photo also
shows the level of tree planting in the background.

The additional photo below illustrates more extensive tree planting to the south of the
property which screens the property and much of the site from Loves Lane.

e

Officers recognise that the proposed conversion could generate some noise and
disturbance to neighbouring properties, however due to the separation distances from
most of the nearest residential properties to the host property and the level of tree
planting/screening which is present at the site, officers are satisfied that with robust

Page 121



planning controls restricting and controlling the hours of operation for all 25 annual
events, the levels of noise and disturbance should not be substantial to result in
significant harm to the living conditions of neighbouring residents at Loves Lane and
Trowle House Bungalow.

In addition, due to the proposed limit to be placed on the number of events in any
given year, the restricted day-time use, the limits to be placed on the number of
attendees and a restriction imposed preventing the use of amplified music to control
the use of the building and site for events, officers are satisfied that with robust
planning conditions, the development would not create an adverse impact on the living
conditions of adjacent / nearby residents.

The proposed use of the existing vehicular access is also considered acceptable in
terms of CP57.

It should also be recorded that the property does have a planning fall-back position in
terms of use as both a large residential dwelling and clinic which could generate
unrestricted traffic movements at any time of the day or night and in respect to the
clinical use, no limit on the commercial hours of use. As reported within section 7, the
Council’s public protection team are satisfied with the negotiated changes made to the
application and the proposed limits to be placed on the number of events, the number
of delegates/attendees and restricting amplified music.

On the basis of the above, the proposed development is considered compatible with
Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the NPPF.

9.5 Impact on the character of the area - Core Policy 51 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy
states that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance
landscape character and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character.
Core Policy 57 requires a high standard of design in all new developments and that
development respond positively to the existing townscape and landscape.

The development is for a change of use only and no works are proposed to the listed
building with the applicants only seeking a change of use. A planning condition is
necessary to secure improvements to the vehicular access onto the A366 to improve
visibility on egress and to provide a passing point. The necessary improvements would
be in the interests of highway safety and would not result in significant harm to
landscape character or cause harm to the setting of the listed building. The proposed
development complies with Core Policy 51 and 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.

9.6 Highway safety/parking issues - Paragraph 32 of the NPPF states that
development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the
residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. Core Policy 61 of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy seeks new development to be served by a safe access to the
highway network. The access to the site would be via an existing driveway off the
A366. Through a planning condition, the Council could secure a betterment.

Current Council parking standards for hotels, hostels and B&Bs seek one parking
space per bedroom. For a dwellinghouse with more than 4 bedrooms, the maximum
parking standards are 3 spaces, while for conference facilities, 1 parking space is

Page 122



required per 5 seats. This property and site can satisfactorily accommodate the
parking requirements which are broken down as follows:

9 for the bed and breakfast use, 3 for the residential use and 5 for the public events
use. Bramley Cottage is a 3 bedroom dwelling while Trowle House Cottage is a 2
bedroom dwelling and sufficient parking can be accommodated. These properties
would require a total of 4 off road parking spaces. The submitted block plan indicates
a total of 21 off road parking spaces which is considered acceptable.

As confirmed by the Council’'s highways officer, there would be no cumulative severe
harm to highway safety in the immediate area and the scheme complies with current
council parking standards and the NPPF.

9.7 Other Material Issues — Land drainage is not considered to be a material planning
consideration given that the application does not involve any operational development.
The existing drainage system would be utilised and there are no justified reason why
permission should be refused on drainage matters.

Concern has also been raised relative to the proposed events leading to increased
antisocial behaviour and increased vermin. The Council’s public protection team are
fully satisfied and raise no objection. The merits associated to the consideration and/or
issuing an alcohol licence is not a material planning consideration and it cannot
influence the determination of this application.

Further concern has been raised about amenity space and parking for residents of
Trowle House Cottage however because the property is on the grounds of Trowle
House, this would be a civil matter between the tenanted occupiers of the property
and the owner of Trowle House. However, it is clear from the submitted block plan,
that adequate and sensitive parking should be achievable without leading to future
conflicts.

10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) — The proposed development would not
significantly or adversely affect the character of the area, the living conditions and
amenities of neighbouring residents or highway safety or cause harm to the heritage
asset. The scheme therefore complies with Core Policies 39, 51, 57 and 58 of the
Wiltshire Core Strategy and the advice contained within the NPPF.

11. RECOMMENDATION: APPROVE, subject to conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:

Site Location Plan scale 1:1250 (dwg no. 17023-01) and Proposed Site Plan scale
1:1250 (dwg no. 17023-02 rev A)

Page 123



REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use until the
2.4m x 120m (measured to the nearest carriageway edge) sight lines for vehicles
exiting the subject property at the A366 access point have been improved insofar as
the land is within the control of the applicant. The approved visibility splays shall
thereafter be permanently maintained and maintained free from obstruction.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

4, No part of the development hereby approved shall be brought into use until the
parking areas shown on the approved plans (dwg no. 17023-02 rev A) have been laid
out in accordance with the approved details. This area shall be maintained and remain
available for this use at all times thereatfter.

REASON: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking within the site in the
interests of highway safety.

5. The number of events shall be limited to no more than 25 in any calendar year
and there shall be no more than one event held at a time and no more than 25
attendees per event. No events shall takes place outside the hours of 08:00 hours and
18.00 hours Monday to Saturday and there shall be no amplified noise or music
entertainment associated with these events.

REASON: To ensure the creation/retention of an environment free from intrusive
levels of noise and activity in the interests of the amenity of the area.

6. No loudspeaker or public address system shall be operated within the premises
hereby approved or its curtilage.

REASON: To ensure the creation/retention of an environment free from intrusive
levels of noise and activity in the interests of the amenity of the area.

7. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until details of
the storage of refuse, including the exact details confirming the location, size, as well
as the means of enclosure, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the approved refuse storage shall be complete
and made available for use in accordance with the approved details prior to the use
being brought into use.

REASON: In the interests of public health and safety.

INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT:

The applicant is advised that this permission authorises a change of use only and
does not authorise any works or alterations that may require planning
permission/internal or external alterations, additions, or works, which may require a
separate grant of Listed Building Consent.

Page 124



17/06276/FUL
Trowle House

Wiltshire Council Trowbridge Road
Where vboudy matters H 1
’ Wingfield
Trowbridge
BA14 9LE

‘4 N\

Trovwed e Farm House

Trowle Famm Trowl
75
2o i 43, t <
0 g, 2,
JJ'!-‘"-'J"GL
Ruin
Fool
The Park
14
158 g
d Woodruffs =
Lhels /
Avien
| | The Lodos .u'r

S8.1m

1:2,300  @crown copyright and database rights 2014 Ordnance Survey 100049050 0

Page 125




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7 Bratton Path No. 42 and Parish of Edington Path No 36
	App1
	App1a
	App1b
	App2
	App3(i)
	App3(ii)
	App3(iii)
	App4(i)
	App4(ii)
	App5(i)
	App5(ii)

	8a 17/06276/FUL-Trowle House, Wingfield
	Map_1706276FUL_TrowleHouse_Wingfield




